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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to announce
the audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2022 (the “Year”).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Financial Results

During the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”), the
Group recorded gross proceeds from disposal of securities
of approximately HK$22.7 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 25.3%, as compared to the amount of approximately
HK$30.4 million for the last year. The Group recorded in revenue
of approximately HK$4.5 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 1.0% as compared to the amount of approximately
HK$4.5 million for the last year. The Company recorded loss
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year amounted
to approximately HK$7.0 million (2021: profit of approximately
HK$3.6 million). The audited consolidated net assets of the
Group as at 31 March 2022 amounted to approximately HK$209.7
million (2021: approximately HK$195.5 million). The net asset
per share of the Group was amounted to approximately HK$0.65
(2021: approximately HK$0.72). The decrease in net asset value
per share of the Company over the year was principally resulted
from the net effect of: (i) the placing of 54,180,000 new shares
of the Company at a price of HK$0.3 each (see the Company’s
announcements dated 19 July 2021 and 10 August 2021 for further
details); (ii) the net loss attributable to the shareholders of the
Company for the Year of approximately HK$7.0 million; and (iii)
non-cash share-based payments of approximately HK$5.2 million
recognised for the Year.

The Group’s financial performance changed from net profit of
approximately HK$3.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2021
to net loss of approximately HK$7.0 million for the Year. Such
change is mainly attributable to the change in performance of
the Group’s listed investments and the expected credit loss
assessment. The Group recorded net gain on listed investments of
approximately HK$20.0 million in the last year, while net loss on
listed investments of approximately HK$0.3 million was recorded
in the Year. In relation to the expected credit loss assessment,
reversal of impairment losses recorded by the Group increased
from approximately HK$1.3 million in the last year to approximately
HK$8.7 million in the Year. Taking into account of decrease in fair
value on unlisted investments of approximately HK$8.7 million
(2021: approximately HK$13.2 million), increase in administrative
expenses of approximately HK$10.7 million (2021: approximately
HK$8.9 million) and other expenses, the Group recorded net
loss of approximately HK$7.0 million in the Year (2021: profit of
approximately HK$3.6 million).
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EEEREE

Investment Review
As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s major investments were as

follows:
Investments Description
RE Bt

Listed equities
LA R42fE A
Direct investment

in unlisted equities

RIFLTRAZERRE

Debt Investments

BEBRE 2 E AR
Total HK$185.8 million
AET 185,800,000/% 7T

The investment portfolio as at 31 March 2022 of the Group mainly
comprises of unlisted securities, listed securities and bonds
investment in Hong Kong and China. The value of investment
portfolio of the Group is of approximately HK$185.8 million.
As a whole, the portfolio was carefully managed and being
fully diversified to minimise commercial risk resulting from over
concentration of the investment of the Group in any single industry.

Significant Investments

The Group’s investments with fair value over 5% of value of its
total assets are considered as significant investments. In respect
of the Group’s significant investments as at 31 March 2022, set out
below are certain information on those investments:

REDE
RIBZ—_HF=ZA=+—HB FEEZFE2RENT:

HK$148.3 million of a portfolio of listed shares in 42 companies
7),2148,300,000/8 L Em R 4EE

HK$15.5 million in 3 direct investments in unlisted equities securities

3IEIE LT AZFH 2 HEE1% & #15,500,0007% 7T

HK$22.0 million in bonds issued by 2 listed companies
2 f&%22,000,0007% 7T

RZZE-_—F=ZA=+—H8B A£EERELELETEH
ERXERHFEIFELTES LTHE %&E%&ﬁzﬁﬁﬁze
KEE 7K EHAEEYH185,800,000/8 7T B2

Bl ?xéiﬁ/\%%\ﬁfﬂilﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmt E/UMEE
ZIN-S DEPRENEME-TEMBEAEZHE
2 B

EXRE

ARFEEAEEREEBEBES Y 2AKRERER
BRERRE-RAEER _ZTE-__F=A=+—H
ZERREME ZEREZETERFIWT :
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Significant Investments

EARE

Equity investment in WLS
Holdings Limited
WERZRER AR ZRARE

Equity investment in Power
Financial Group Limited
REREBREBBERARZBARE

Equity investment in Youth Champ
Financial Group Limited

RERAEBEBERBRDAZBARE

Bonds investment in Hao Wen
Holdings Limited
RENERER DRI ZEHEE

(A) Listed Equity Investments

Fair value/
Carrying value
of significant
investments
as at 31 March
2022

BEAREZ
AYE/EHE
HKS’ million
HEET

25.0

17.3

11.5

12.2

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS”, stock code: 8021)
WLS is principally engaged in the provision of scaffolding and

Percentage

of fair value

of significant
investments to
the Company’s
total assets as
at

31 March

2022
R-ZBZZF
ZA=t—H
EAREZ
AFEE
APREE
BEZADL

1.1%

1.7%

5.1%

5.4%

(A) EFRAKE

fitting out services, and other services for construction and

buildings work, money lending business, securities brokerage

and margin financing and securities investment business

and assets management business. The audited consolidated

loss attributable to shareholders of WLS for the year ended

30 April 2021 was approximately HK$16.9 million.

Realised
gain/(loss)
recognised
during the
year ended 31
March 2022
REBZE
—E-CF
=A=t-H
LEERAZ
EBRNE/
(B1])

HKS$’ million
BEET

Unrealised
gain/(loss)
recognised
during the
year ended 31
March 2022
REZE
—E-CF
ZA=t+-AL
FERRAZ
FBBWE
(B#8)

HKS$’ million
BEET

6.1

7.0

3.7

Bond coupons
received
during the year
ended

31 March

2022

REZE
—E-CE
=RA=t-H
EFEREZ
EFRE
HKS$’ million
AEET

N/ATE A

N/ATiE A

N/A i A

JEEFRER L A ([EE] BRI - 8021)
EEFTENXFREMEEEREECRSE URE
MREREFIERYE WEEK FHLELR
RECHERBFHFREEBREAEEREBL R
BE-_Z-_—FNA=Z1+ALFE ERZKR
JE L I Tz 4R & 518 47 /516,900,000 7T



As stated in WLS interim report 2021/2022, looking ahead,
WLS foresees that global economy will be getting better in
year 2021/2022 as a result of the disbursement of HK$5,000
electronic consumption vouchers from government and
the continued COVID-19 vaccination. WLS is reviewing its
existing assets structure and business strategies and may
make adjustment to their existing assets structure, with
the aim to consolidate their resources, so as to be flexibly
prepared for uncertainties in the future. Meanwhile, in order to
enhance their competitiveness, WLS will look for opportunities
to revitalise the scaffolding business to keep up with the
recent development and trend in the industry, in particular the
declining use of bamboo scaffolds. At the same time, WLS will
continue focusing on those business segments that generate
higher profit margins and show ample growth potential such
as money lending operations. WLS will strictly adhere to its
cost control policy, and swiftly adjust business strategies of
its scaffolding business in response to ever-changing market
dynamics in order to generate better financial returns for
shareholders. Finally, WLS will actively explore all suitable
investment opportunities to diversify its business horizons and
will work hard to strengthen overall business development.
WLS business strategy is in line with the general direction
of the government’s overall strategic development plans for
property construction, infrastructure investment and financial
market development.

The management of the Company shares the same viewpoints
of WLS and believes its business in construction and
infrastructure sectors are in line with the development plan
of Hong Kong Government. Unrealised gain of approximately
HK$6.1 million has been recorded in the Group’s equity
investment in WLS during the Year. Return on investment in
WLS is expected to be generated in coming years, but the
Group will still continue to monitor the performance of WLS
and adjust the Group’s strategy of investment in WLS, if
necessary.
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BMER - -— /T - —FhERERM
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RBECOVID19E B R ERBEH T =—/
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SHERNEEABRERR AL R &
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Power Financial Group Limited (“Power Financial”, stock
code: 397)

Power Financial is principally engaged in business of financial
services, asset management and investment and money
lending. For the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the
audited consolidated profit attributable to shareholders of
Power Financial was approximately HK$153.8 million.

As stated in Power Financial’s 2021 annual report, it was
stated that in response to a potential overflow of listings at
the beginning of 2022, the Stock Exchange launched revised
listing rules for overseas companies that wish to undertake
dual-primary or secondary listings in Hong Kong. In addition,
the bourse introduced a special purpose acquisition company
(“SPAC?”) listing regime. This type of enhanced listing regime
aims to ensure the city’s competitiveness by providing greater
flexibility to facilitate more listings by mainland and Southeast
Asian companies. PricewaterhouseCoopers expects Hong
Kong to welcome 120 IPOs in 2022 while raising about
HK$350 to 400 billion. This will enable Hong Kong to regain
its position among the world’s top 3 IPO markets.

BALTHERGRAA ([#RcH]  BREAK:
397)

BRI ZEBRASRRE EEEEREE
UEHE - RBEE-_ZE-—F+-_A=+—H1
MRFE #HRSR 2 RRELEEZRE R
#417153,800,0005% 7T °

BUOERCR T —FEERSHL B
BEUS-_ZF-_—FYAREEREMNLETEL BR
st BER BB ETEE-F—HEX LN
BEINA RIBUR SIS FT LR Al o 1t 5N - B XA
SIAKK B UEE R A ([SPAC ) ET I - 1k
Bt EMHEEEEBREEANEEL A
EEHAMREEDEARN ETREES Em
REBBNRF N -BEFKBEAMEHME
T AR RORI20RERAREE
B B 2 5 493,5002 4,000 B T E & - 5 15 (F
BREFES A= KB RRABEMHB 2 -



To optimise this market momentum, Power Financial will
continue to source additional revenues and broaden the
customer base for its margin financing business through the
broad social networks of the Group’s experienced staff and
new hires in order to build more in-depth as well as new
business relationships, which will bring sustainable and steady
growth to the segment. As for its money lending business,
Power Financial will continue to expand into corporate and
individual loans through E Cash and allow E Finance to focus
on property mortgage loans and other secured loans. Under
today’s challenging and unpredictable economic environment,
Power Financial expects to face lending risks which may
affect loan demands from borrowers. Power Financial will
continue to carefully evaluate its risk management strategies
and ensure a proper balance between returns and risks
over the long run. To help ensure a sound loan portfolio,
Power Financial will continue to adopt prudent and cautious
approaches throughout the credit assessment and approval
processes. Power Financial will also keep a close eye on the
repayment performance of its loan portfolio while evaluating
the affordability of borrowers. Power Financial will continue
to cautiously monitor the general business environment and
market conditions while also seeking potential investment
and business opportunities for further development of its
various business segments, expanding the business scope
and creating a new dynamic for revenue growth. While the
impact of COVID-19 and its variants still lingers worldwide,
Power Financial will continue to fulfill its financial intermediary
role and respond to client needs for funding support while
proactively adjusting financial management strategies toward
a forward-looking perspective in order to maximise value for
its shareholders.
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RIAE-—MEER ERSRBEERBAR
BRReEnREEMMEETINEZHIBLE
RERECBEETHRBIMMALBEATFPE
BUBYERANFEBBEE EMAEADE
TRAFELRBEER-REREXBEM S #
BREREEIERBERRECERBAERR
RAZUBEINPERBEFRREMEERE
R-EERMEMIBREORYOLBERTET
ERERENEHEA LY EERAERTRLD
ERER - EREeRMBEESETGERRERE
R YHEARRAKRGERR 2 HOEE FE-
RHDHRABENEREAS EHRSRBERME
EEFHRELBRETEBRDFETREBENHR
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EEEFERBLEHRELTR RESREER
BN E-—TERZSBEBOR BAEK
BE SRRERFRFNE S - EE COVID-19
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AECHEREE UERARRAIERKER-
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

The management of the Company believes Power Financial
will be able to spur its revenue growth and create more value.
Unrealised gain of approximately HK$7.0 million has been
recorded in the Group’s equity investment in Power Financial
during the Year. Return on investment in Power Financial is
expected to be generated in coming years, but the Group will
still continue to monitor the performance of Power Financial
and adjust the Group’s strategy of investment in Power
Financial, if necessary.

Youth Champ Financial Group Holdings Limited (“Youth
Champ’, stock code: 1160)

Youth Champ is principally engaged in investing in listed
and unlisted enterprises established in Hong Kong and
the People’s Republic of China with potential for earning’s
growth and capital appreciation. For the financial year ended
31 March 2021, the audited consolidated loss attributable
to shareholders of Youth Champ was approximately HK$8.4
million.

As stated in Youth Champ interim report as at 30 September
2021, Hong Kong’s economic recovery became more
significant with real GDP expanding further by 5.4% year-on-
year, thanks to the continued revitalization of global economic
activity and stable local epidemic situation. The local stock
market, however, corrected more than 20% from the peak in
February, under the uncertainties of China’'s economy and
asset prices. Looking ahead, the global economic recovery
should render further support to Hong Kong’'s merchandise
exports. However, the pandemic development especially the
threat of the more infectious variants, will continue to pose
downside risks to the global economic outlook. Moreover, the
escalation in energy prices and higher inflation pressures in
the US and Europe have cast uncertainties over the future
central banks’ monetary policies. Developments in China-
US relations and geopolitical tensions also result in alert to
investors.

NGRS =R R Y R i SR R Al S N
RURIEELEBEE - RAFE AKERERS
B B AR 1 B R 8% 15 R B3R 2 497,000,00008
T-BERENER TR M RIEH N RRE
FES EAKEREERIERESRORI
YR BERRAERE BRSNS B AR -

EEFEEIZEREGR LA ([1EE]]  BRELHE-
1160)
BEAZTERFRENREBRPEARLMBIAL
UREBRMEREERNEEE N LT RIE
¥ -REBE_E - —F=ZA=1+—HItH
HEE BRZREAEBELCEZLEEEEBOR
8,400,000/ 7t °

HNBE — T —FAA=TBEHRHREHL
HREREEEHFERERAMRERE &
BREBEERMMEZ BERGDPE—FRLIER
5.4% - AT ARPEKEREEEBRNTEE
M ATt — AREEERBEB20% - RE
R BEREEEEME - S HEEFRLEA -
BR RENER LERRAUBANERR
EMNEE BEBGE2HREEMNSERTITRA
Broptsh ERAMEMNERER LRRBER
BRENER HERKEEPRRITOEEBR
TRTHEEE - PEXBENBERREEBOARE
ERMIIBIREENEG -
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(B)

Youth Champ remain attentively cautious under the external
and internal investment environments. Referring to the
investment portfolio, during September 2021, Youth Champ
exited the closed-end fund investment, CMHJ Technology
Fund II, L.P.. As a result, around USD117,000 were realized
in the books of Youth Champ. Youth Champ will actively
raise new capital for their investment management purpose
and shall continue to focus on seeking lower risk under-
performed investment opportunities for the investment
portfolio. Unrealised gain on investment in Youth Champ of
approximately HK$3.7 million was recorded by the Group
during the Year. In addition to the unrealised gain brought
to the Group, the management of the Company believes
investment in Youth Champ and diversify the Group’s
investment portfolio risk indirectly.

Unlisted Debt Investments

Hao Wen Holdings Limited (‘Hao Wen”)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group subscribed
unlisted bonds (the “HW Bonds”) issued by Hao Wen with
principal of HK$15,000,000 with a coupon rate of 11.0%. The
HW Bonds will be matured in 36 months from the issuing date
(i.e. 12 July 2019).

Hao Wen is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
limited liability. Hao Wen and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the money lending business and processing
and trading of electronic parts. It is listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8019). The audited net
assets and current assets of Hao Wen were approximately
RMB290.4 million and RMB191.8 million respectively and
its total liabilities were approximately RMB70.5 million as
at 31 December 2021. The Company considers that Hao
Wen has sufficient financial resources to meets its ongoing
operation, and there is no signal of default of the HW Bonds.

(B)

ERNBHRERRT BARFEE-TREHA
EHFE RZEZ—FhhA EFaELHHARX
EeREBENEMKEESN, LP. Bt 4
117,000 L B R B AR B N # 1 - B A 1§ 1B &
EEMEASANKREATEBEN UHEERIRE
HASHESRABRSEAEGFERONEEKS -
RAFE AEEREBANRERESRERI
##93,700,0008 L - AR AIEBERAE KEE
BIBR THEANEBERKRER YR BB D
MASENEEAERR -

HFLHTEBRE

BEXERBR LA (X))
REE-Z-_ZF=-A=+—ALLFE A£E
REBEXETHELTES ([BXEF]) K&
#315,000,0007% 7T - = F & 211.0%  #5 XEFH
BEREZRTAB(IZZ—AFLtA+=-A)#E
st361@ A REIH7 -

EXARBEHESFMALZER QA #X
FEMBAREFEZNRENEXEFARMIRE
BEE T ERBERZAMTGEM £ (5 RS
8019) RZT-_—F+-_A=+—H #X
NEEREETFERRDEESRADARYE
290,400,0007T &2 A R #191,800,000 A K E &
BERRE AN ARET0,500,0007T ° N A 7 78 A
NAEREUBERBRESELEE BXES
WEBHIR -
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT
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Performance of the Group’s Listed Securities

The loss on listed investments of approximately HK$0.1 million
for the Year represented net realised loss on disposal of listed
securities of approximately HK$0.4 million and net unrealised gain
of listed securities of approximately HK$0.1 million and dividend
received of approximately HK$0.2 million. Set out below are further
information of these net realised loss and unrealised gain:

Net Realised Loss on Disposal of Listed Securities

The net realised loss on disposal of listed securities of
approximately HK$0.4 million represented the realised gain of
approximately HK$2.3 million net of realised loss of approximately
HK$2.7 million.

Net Unrealised Gain of Listed Securities

The net unrealised gain of approximately HK$0.1 million
represented the unrealised gain of approximately HK$31.8 million
net of unrealised loss of approximately HK$31.7 million.

The unrealised gain of approximately HK$31.8 million principally
represented:

Company name

NEEB

Power Financial Group Limited

EReHEEGRAR

WLS Holdings Limited
EREERBERA

Youth Champ Financial Group Holdings Limited
BRI eMEBZERERAD

Luxxu Group Limited

BREEERAR

Suncorp Technologies Limited
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In addition to the above 5 stocks, there was no other stocks which
brought unrealised gain over HK$2.0 million to the Group during
the Year.

The unrealised loss of approximately HK$31.7 million principally
represented:

Company name

DR BB

Wan Cheng Metal Packaging Company Limited
EReEBREARAA

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited
PEEBAXNEBBRAT

AMCO United Holding Limited
ERERBR AT

China Properties Investment Holdings Limited

TEREXREZRBR AT

In addition to above 4 stocks, there was no other stocks which
brought unrealised loss over HK$2.0 million to the Group during
the Year.

Note:

The shares of all the companies mentioned under Performance of the
Group’s Listed Securities were listed on either Main Board or GEM of the
Stock Exchange.

Performance of the Group’s Unlisted Securities

The Group’s did not dispose of any unlisted securities and
recorded net unrealised loss of unlisted securities of approximately
HK$8.7 million during the Year, which principally represented the
valuation loss on the Group’s investment in Peak Zone Group
Limited of approximately HK$6.2 million.
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Performance of the Group’s Unlisted Debt Investments
The valuation loss on the Group’s investments in the bonds of
approximately HK$7.2 million was recorded during the Year.
There is no overdue coupon of the Group’s bond investment as
at 31 March 2022. Total coupons of approximately HK$3.1 million
were received by the Group during the Year.

Impairment Losses under Expected Credit Loss Model
In the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group disposed of
an investment in Help U Credit Limited at a consideration of
HK$50,000,000. The Group has only received HK$34,920,000 as
of 22 June 2020, the date of approval of the Company’s annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2020 (“Year 2020”). During
Year 2020, the Group has taken legal actions against the vendor in
connection with the outstanding balance of HK$15,080,000 already.
As of 31 March 2020, the Group has made a full impairment on
the remaining balance of HK$15,080,000, and this amount has
been fully collected subsequent to 31 March 2022. The Company
has engaged an independent valuer to assess the expected credit
loss of the Company’s bonds and receivables, and reversal of
expected credit loss of approximately HK$8.7 million was made
during the Year, which was principally attributable to the net effect
of collection of the outstanding receivable of HK$15,080,000
mentioned above, and impairment losses on debt investments
and other receivables of approximately HK$6.4 million in total,
recognised during the Year.

Segmental Information

There is no material change in the Group’s investment segment,
principally investment in listed and unlisted securities, during the
Year.
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Price Risk

The Group is exposed to financial assets price risks as investments
held by the Group are classified on the consolidated statement of
financial position as equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss as at 31 March 2022. To manage its price risk arising from
investments in the above financial assets, the Group diversifies
its portfolio. If the prices of the equity investments held for trading
were higher or lower by 5% as at 31 March 2022, the Group’s loss
for the Year would decrease or increase by approximately HK$6.2
million respectively, and if the prices of equity investments held
for trading were higher or lower by 5% as at 31 March 2021, the
Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2021 would increase
or decrease by approximately HK$5.1 million respectively. If the
value of the investments held by the Group as equity investments
with non-trading in nature were higher or lower by 5% as at
31 March 2022 (2021: 5%), the Group’s equity as at 31 March
2022 would increase or decrease by approximately HK$0.8 million
(2021: HK$1.2 million) respectively.

Prospects

We expect the global market will continue to face greater
challenges and full of uncertainty especially after the outbreak of
COVID-19. Both developed and developing economies are facing
challenge of economic turmoil. China was also facing a slowdown
in economic growth, but its situation seems not as poor as that
of the West. China has begun to have signs of recovery, but the
West still cannot control the COVID-19 pandemic. When the world
is facing such great uncertainty, the Directors consider, crisis and
opportunities coexist in the coming year.
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The Directors will continue to take a prudent approach in
managing the Group’s investment portfolio and develop the
investment strategies. Given the increasing influence of China
against the global economy, the Group will still be based mainly on
Chinese economy, the Group will continue to look for investment
opportunities which offer outstanding returns under the acceptable
risk in the portfolio of the Group.

The Company would consider investing in certain unlisted
securities, listed securities and fixed income products with high
potential in order to diversify further market risk.

Dividend
The Board has resolved not to recommend a payment of final
dividend.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had margin payables to financial
institutions of approximately HK$12.6 million (2021: approximately
HK$4.4 million). The Group had bank balances and cash on hand
of approximately HK$10.8 million (2021: approximately HK$2.8
million), which was mainly placed in bank and other financial
institutions as deposits. As the Group held listed securities of
approximately HK$148.3 million as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
approximately HK$121.2 million), which is around 11.8 times (2021:
approximately 27.4 times) of the margin payable value, the Board
consider the Company’s liquidity position is still healthy as at
31 March 2022.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing liabilities/total
equity) was 6.0% (2021: 2.2%), which was considered a very low
leverage level by the Board.
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Capital Structure

The consolidated net asset value per share of the Company as
at 31 March 2022 was HK$0.65 (2021: audited HK$0.72). The
consolidated net asset value per share is calculated based on the
net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2022 of approximately
HK$209.7 million (2021: approximately HK$195.5 million) and
the total number of 325,096,600 shares ordinary shares of the
Company at par value of HK$0.001 each (2021: 270,916,600
ordinary shares of the Company at par value of HK$0.001 each) in
issue as at that date. The change of the number of issued shares
of the Company is resulted from the placing of 54,180,000 shares
on 10 August 2021.

The Board has been actively seeking fund raising opportunities to
strengthen the Company’s financial position. On 10 August 2021,
the Company completed a placing and has successfully raised
approximately HK$16.3 million (before expenses), which are
detailed below.

On 19 July 2021 (after trading hours), the Company and Astrum
Capital Management Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered into a
placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Placing Agent agreed to place, on a best endeavour basis, to not
less than six independent placees for up to 54,180,000 new shares
at a price (the “Placing Price”) of HK$0.3 per placing share (the
“Placing”). These new shares rank pari passu in all respect with
the then existing Shares. The Placing was completed on 10 August
2021.

The Placing Price of HK$0.30 per placing share represents: (i) a
discount of approximately 14.3% to the closing price of HK$0.350
per share of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
19 July 2021, being the date of the Placing Agreement; and (ii)
a discount of approximately 14.5% to the average of the closing
prices of HK$0.351 per share of the Company as quoted on
the Stock Exchange for the last five consecutive trading days
immediately prior to the date of the Placing Agreement.
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The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are securities trading
and investment holding. The Board considered that the Placing
represented a good opportunity for the Company to raise additional
funds and to widen the Company’s shareholder base, and the
terms of the Placing Agreement are on normal commercial terms.
Accordingly, the Directors considered that the terms of the Placing
were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole.

The aggregate gross proceeds of the Placing were approximately
HK$16.3 million and the aggregate net proceeds of the Placing,
after deduction of expenses, were approximately HK$16.0 million,
representing a net issue price of approximately HK$0.295 per
placing share. The net proceeds from the Placing were intended to
be used for the general working capital of the Group and for future
investments pursuant to the investment objectives of the Company.
As of 31 March 2022, the full amount of approximately HK$16.0
million were used for working capital and listed investments as
intended.

Save as the Placing above, the Group did not have run any capital
exercise during the Year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company does not
have any significant acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures.

Employees

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had retained
eleven employees (2021: eleven employees). Total staff costs
of the Group, excluding directors’ remuneration, for the year
under review amounted to approximately HK$4.6 million (2021:
approximately HK$2.9 million). Staff remuneration packages were
in line with the prevailing market practice and were determined
on the basis of the performance and experience of individual
employee.
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Charges on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has pledged listed securities of
approximately HK$31.5 million (2021: approximately HK$14.4
million) to secure the margin payables of approximately HK$12.6
million (2021: approximately HK$4.4 million). The Group did not
have significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2022 and
2021.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets
and Their Expected of Funding in Coming Year

As at 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this Statement of the
Management, the Company does not have any concrete plan for
material investments or capital assets.

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

The Group’s exposures to foreign currencies mainly arises from
its investments in companies located in the People’s Republic
of China, which are financed internally. In order to mitigate the
potential impact of currency fluctuations, the Group closely
monitors its foreign currency exposures and will use suitable
hedging instruments against significant foreign currency exposures,
where necessary. No foreign currency hedge contract was entered
into by the Group during the Year. As at 31 March 2022, the Group
had no outstanding foreign currency hedge contracts (2021: Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

For the year ended 31 March 2022, neither the Company nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company had reviewed the
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022, including the accounting principles and accounting practices
adopted by the Company, and discussed matters relating to
auditing, risk management, internal controls, financial reporting,
the adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff.

The audit committee of the Group consists of three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon

and Ms. LIU Xiaoyin.

By Order of the Board
China Investment and Finance Group Limited

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2022
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan”), aged 58, was appointed as
an executive Director on 8 March 2011. Mr. Chan is one of the
representatives of Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited
and a licensed person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities)
and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”). Mr. Chan obtained
a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of Business
Administration of the University of South Florida in the United
States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in securities,
fund management, corporate management, corporate finance and
managing listed investment companies under Chapter 21 of the
Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

Mr. Chan is currently executive director of each of China
Innovation Investment Limited (stock code: 1217), China
Investment Development Limited (stock code: 204), Capital VC
Limited (stock code: 2324), China New Economy Fund Limited
(stock code: 80), National Investments Fund Limited (stock code:
1227) and Goldstone Investment Group Limited (stock code: 901),
and a non-executive director of China Trends Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8171). All these companies are listed on either the
main board or GEM of the Stock Exchange.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Qi (“Mr. Wu”), aged 38, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 3 July 2015. He is a famous securities analyst in China.
He has many years’ solid experience in the financial industries.
He has often been interviewed by many Chinese media and has
been invited by a number of financial programs as a guest. He is
also a financial columnist of sina.com, yicai.com and other famous
websites. Mr. Wu specializes in the stock market analysis and his
choice of stocks also has outstanding insights.

Mr. FONG On Shek, aged 77, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 19 July 2017. He has over 20 years’
solid experience in senior management positions in various
industries.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LUK Simon (“Mr. Luk”), aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 July 2014. He is a
responsible officer for the regulated activities of asset management
(Type 9) under the Securities and Futures Ordinance since 2003.
Mr. Luk has over 10 years’ experience in asset management and
investment advising. Mr. Luk worked in various investment advising
companies.

Since September 2020, Mr. Luk is the responsible officer of
EAIl Securities Limited. During the period from November 2016
to September 2020, Mr. Luk is the responsible officer of Thoth
Investment Management Limited. During the periods from July
2014 to November 2016 and from February 2011 to November
2013, Mr. Luk was a responsible officer of W. Falcon Asset
Management (Asia) Limited and Capital Focus Asset Management
Limited respectively. Before that, Mr. Luk was a founder and
responsible officer of Money Concepts (Asia) Ltd. During the period
of 2000 to 2009, Mr. Luk managed various funds and private equity
portfolios. Mr. Luk was currently an independent non-executive
director of each of Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 640), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, and
Link Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8237).

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, aged 37, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 March 2015. She is currently the
assistant to the general manager of a China based investment
company. She has over 5 years solid investment and management
experience.

Mr. HON Leung (“Mr. Hon"), aged 39, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 20 November 2015. He is
the founder of William Hon & Co, and a certified public accountant
(practising) in Hong Kong, with over 10 years of professional
practice experience. He possess solid finance and accounting
knowledge. Mr. Hon is currently an independent non-executive
director of FY Financial (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 8452), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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The Board presents their annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of subsidiaries are securities trading and
investment holding.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s turnover
and results were mainly derived from the interest income and
dividend income from investment holding. The directors consider
that these activities constitute one and the only business segment
since these transactions are subject to common risks and returns.
The management monitors the operating results of its business
for the purpose of making decision about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Given the nature of the Group’s
operation is investment holding, it is not considered meaningful to
provide a business segment analysis of operating losses. Details of
the segment information are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group’s operation is investment holding, there was
no information regarding major customers and suppliers as
determined by the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 and
the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 57 to 61 and page
138. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the years ended 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Group during the
year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

The existing share option scheme of the Company was approved
and adopted by shareholders’ resolution at the annual general
meeting held on 29 August 2013 (the “Option Scheme”), unless
otherwise cancelled or amended subject to resolution passed at
general meeting of the Company the Option Scheme will remain in
force for ten years from 29 August 2013. As at 31 March 2022, the
remaining life of the Option Scheme was approximately 1 years
and 5 months.

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provided incentive or
reward to Participants (as defined below) for their contribution to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Participants”) of the Option Scheme
include any employees of the Group (including any directors,
whether executive or non-executive and whether independent
or not, of the Company or any Subsidiary) and any distributor,
contractor, business partner, promoter, service provider, customer,
supplier, consultant, agent and adviser or any person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to
the Group eligible for Options under the Option Scheme.

Without prior separate approval from the Company’s shareholders,
(i) the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Company must not exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’
approval of the option limit; and (ii) the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each Participant under the Option Scheme (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not (when aggregated with any shares of the Company subject to
options granted during such period under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue for any time being.
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Any grant of options to any directors, chief executive or substantive
shareholders (as such terms as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Company, or any of their respective associates under the
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries shall be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive directors or shareholders of the
Company as the case may be. Without prior separate approval
from the Company’s shareholders, the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant shall not (i) exceed 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue on the date of such grant;
and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, in excess of
HK$5 million.

Under the Option Scheme, the options granted may be accepted
by the participants concerned for a period of twenty-one days
from the date of such offer or such shorter period as the Board
may from time to time determine. An option shall be regarded
as having been accepted when the Company receives from the
Participant the duplicate of the offer letter duly signed by the
Participant together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of option. Options may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme at
any time not exceeding a period of ten years from the date on
which the share option is granted. The subscription price for the
shares on the exercise of an option under the Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Company’s share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
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The following table sets out the movements in the Company’s

share options during the year:

TRENARRARASERE R BRAES

Number
Number of Number Number  of options ~ Number of
options held of options of options cancelled/ options held
as at granted exercised lapsed as at
Exercise 1April  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 March
Category Date of Grant Price  Option Period 2021 Year Year Year 2022
RZB=-% R-B-Z%
MA—-A EER EER XEER =ZA=t-AH
& Rz Tz F8/X%2 fri&
5 BERH TRE BREAH BRERE BREHE BREYE BRERE BREXE
Directors
=
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee 7 August 2020 HK$0.316  Three years from date of grant 2,250,000 - - - 2,250,000
REZLE “Z-25/\AtH 031687 RHAHLH=F
11 August 2021 HK$0.421  Three years from date of grant - 3,250,000 - - 3,250,000
“Z--%/\At+-H 0421870 RUAHRH=F
Mr. FONG On Shek 7 August 2020 HK$0.316  Three years from date of grant 2,250,000 - - - 2,250,000
TRA%EHE —Z-Z5\AtA 031687 KHBHEHZF
11 August 2021 HK$0.421  Three years from date of grant - 3,250,000 - - 3,250,000
“Z--%/\At+-H 0421870 RUAHRH=F
Employees 7 August 2020 HK$0.316  Three years from date of grant 18,000,000 - - - 18,000,000
3 “Z-25/\AtH 03167 RHAHLH=F
11 August 2021 HK$0.421  Three years from date of grant - 20,300,000 - - 20,300,000
“Z--%/\At+-H 042187 RUAHRH=F
Total
CLHy 22,500,000 26,800,000 - - 49,300,000

Details of the 26,800,000 share options granted during the year:

Grant date:

Exercise period:

11 August 2021

3 years commencing

from 11 August 2021

Exercise price:

Fair value:

HK$0.421

approximately

HK$5,233,000

Closing price of the Company’s shares
immediately before the date of the
grant of the aforesaid 26,800,000
share options (i.e. 10 August 2021)

HK$0.410
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The fair value of options which were calculated by binomial option
pricing model with the following assumptions:

Share price as at grant date: HK$0.420
Nature of the options: Call
Risk-free rate: 0.273%
Expected life of the options: 3 years
Expected volatility: 93.05%
Expected dividend yield: 0%
Exercise multiple: 2.2-2.8

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 60 of this report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman lIslands, share premium
of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company subject to the provisions of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association and a statutory solvency test. The Articles
of Association provide that an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company is required for any distribution out
of the share premium account. The Company’s reserves available
for distribution comprise the share premium, accumulated profits
and valuation reserve derived from the available-for-sale financial
assets. In the opinion of the Board, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to the shareholders at 31 March 2022
were approximately HK$201,816,000.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board established a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
January 2019. The Company endeavours to maintain adequate
working capital to develop and operate the business of the Group
and to provide stable and sustainable return to the shareholders of
the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, the capital and debt level of the Group,
the general market conditions, any working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future development plans
of the Group, the liquidity position of the Group, contractual
restrictions on payment of dividends, the statutory and regulatory
restrictions which the Group is subject to from time to time and any
other relevant factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past does not necessarily imply that the similar level of dividends
may be declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Company’s articles of association and any
other applicable laws and regulations. The Board will continually
review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or
in no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or
from time to time.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Director
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. WU Qi
Mr. FONG On Shek

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LUK Simon
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin
Mr. HON Leung

No director has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

In accordance with Article 88 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, Mr. WU Qi and Mr. FONG On Shek shall retire
by rotation. All retiring Directors being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or its subsidiary
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes
or may cause a significant competition with the business of the
Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in
force for the benefit of the directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong) when this report prepared by the directors is approved in
accordance with section 391 of the Companies Ordinance.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN EQUITY OR DEBT SECURITIES
Save as disclosed in “SHARE OPTIONS” in this directors’
report, as at 31 March 2022, none of the directors and the chief
executives of the Company had or were deemed to have any
Disclosable Interests or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to division 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interest or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for securities transactions by Directors of listed
companies contained in the Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had not been notified of any person (other than
directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest
or a short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March
2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, with deviations from
Provisions A.2.1 (which has been re-numbered as CG Code
provision C.2.1 under the new Corporate Governance Code that
came to effect on 1 January 2022) and A.4.1 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.

Pursuant to Provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
None of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term. Since all the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
according to the provisions under article 88 of the Articles of
Association of the Company, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Company’s
directors or members of its management to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material transactions with its related
parties during the year.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions
of the Group during the year and were not aware any transaction
requiring disclosure of connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the directors are subject to review and
recommendation to the Board by the Remuneration Committee and
then fixed by the Board with the authorisation of the shareholders
at a general meeting.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefits scheme are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Group and
within the knowledge of its directors, the Company has complied
with the public float requirement of the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

For the year ended 31 March 2022, neither the Group nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Fair Review of the Company’s Business and Likely
Future Development

Please refer to “Statement from the Management” on pages 4 to 20.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Please refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Protection

The Group has taken an initiative to promote employees’
awareness of environmental protection and the need to achieve
efficient utilisation of resources through launching paper recycling
in offices.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

In order to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, the
Group emphasises the importance of adhering to anti-corruption
practices for all employees. The Group regards honesty, integrity
and fair play as its core values that must be upheld by all
employees of the Group at all times. As such, it is the Group’s
policy that employees are not allowed to solicit or accept any
advantage for themselves or others, from any person, company or
organisations having business dealings with the Group.

Company’s Key Relationships with its Employees

We consider our employees an important asset of the Company.
We strive to provide a fair and respectful working environment to
our employees.

In selecting our employees and board members, the Company
considers the experience, knowledge and background of the
individual that can contribute to the diversity and caliber of the
Company.

We encourage the staff to take seminars and other activities
related to the Company’s business. We adopt a five-day workweek
and encourage our employees to have a good balance among
health, work and social or family activities.
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Community Involvement and Contribution

The Company pursues sustainable development of the community
by supporting initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits
to the local communities. We supports long-term community
investment by encouraging our employees to participate in
volunteer work.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
on pages 24 to 27 and note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report, no equity-linked agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Group’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to the existing shareholders.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Details of the five years financial summary in relation to the
Group’s results and assets and liabilities are set out in page 140.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
UNDER RULE 13.51B OF THE LISTING RULES

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee was appointed as an executive director
of Goldstone Investment Group Limited, a company listed on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 901), with effect
from 19 November 2021. Mr. LUK Simon was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Link Holdings Limited, a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8237),
with effect from 12 November 2021.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited. Elite
Partners CPA Limited retires, and being eligible, offers itself for
reappointment. A resolution for reappointment of Elite Partners
CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2022

B ED
AEBAFE2HEEUBBRRDERTER SIS
BHERAREZ -RALEEEFMEHEMERAR
BETUEERBEREFZE - ARABRERER
RBFAE L REENZERTERESHAMEBHRE
RABBARRZEENZIRES

AEEED

HiTEF
RE=

EH —E-_F,A=-1++tH



Annual R rt
2021/22 @ ;poﬁ

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARRE

The Company recognises that good corporate governance
standards maintained throughout the Group serve as an effective
risk management tool for the Company. The board of Directors of
the Company (the “Board”) is committed to lead the Group growing
in an efficient manner followed by corporate missions in terms
of business strategies and improved operational planning and
procedures which are enforced under high corporate governance
standard.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, with deviations from
Provisions A.2.1 (which has been re-numbered as CG Code
provision C.2.1 under the new Corporate Governance Code that
came to effect on 1 January 2022) and A.4.1 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.

Pursuant to Provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
None of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term. Since all the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
according to the provisions under article 88 of the Articles of
Association of the Company, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Group. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Group confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board of the Group is collectively responsible for overseeing
the management of the business and affairs of the Group with
the objective of enhancing shareholders value. The Board
comprises a total of six Directors, with one executive Director,
two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors as at 31 March 2022. One of the independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. HON Leung, has appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting pursuant to Rule 3.10 of
the Listing Rules. Each of the independent non-executive Directors
has made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Group is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. All
Directors have access to the company secretary for advice on the
board procedures and regulatory matters. Any Director may take
independent professional advice if they so wish at the expense of
the Group, as arranged by the company secretary.

Function

In view of the simple structure of the Group, all significant decision
making is carried out by the executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board while the day-to-day investment decision is based on
the professional recommendation of the investment manager.

None of the existing non-executive Directors of the Group is
appointed for a specific term. This constitutes a deviation from
the code provision A.4.1 of the Code. However, one-third of the
Directors of the Company (both executive and non-executive) are
subject to retirement by rotation at each annual general meeting
under the articles of association of the Group. As such, the Group
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that
the Group’s corporate governance practices are similar to those in
the Code.

Directors’ Training

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the
company secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all
Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum
or training courses on relevant topics which may count towards
Continuous Professional Development training.
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Pursuant to Code A.6.5, Directors should participate in continuous BETAHNEACSG EFELHGFETETEUR
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge REBESMEMZ LT KMERESENE RIEH
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board MRRATHESSELHER -RBEE-SZ2F=A
remains informed and relevant. During the year ended 31 March EST-BLEEE 2REFCEBRSMNELRRAER
2022, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous HEECRERETHBZEIREZXEERBE B

professional development activities either by attending training SHETHEZFBEEXERTE-
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s
business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have made full and active contribution to the affairs PREFHENEBRAZEZSEHE MESFTHR
of the Board and the Board always acts in the best interests of the NHEAEEREN R 2 AR TE - REE=-TE ==
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board convened FZA=1T—"HLFE ETSEREHI0EHE "
a total of ten meetings. Included in one meeting was a session BRE-RERINTEZ (BEBEIIERITES) HE
held among the non-executive directors (including independent THEH REASEZAGERMA E208HY
non-executive directors) only. The Directors can attend meetings FUNEMEFRATRAEEEZ SEEREES
in persons or through other means of electronic communication T FZA=TBULEFELEREFTESHRINEHR
in accordance with the articles of association of the Group. The RTER-BRAETERTENESNEEESHHAM
number of Board meetings attended by each Director during the BTGB ZIHEZREC
year ended 31 March 2022 is set out in the following table. Figure
in brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the
period in which the individual was a Director.

Attendance
Name of Directors EENE HERE
Executive Director HITES
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee PREZEE 8/(8)
Non-executive Directors FEHTES
Mr. WU Qi REEE 8/(8)
Mr. FONG On Shek HERATE 8/(8)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. LUK Simon ERE2EE 8/(8)
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin Bl =pn 8/(8)
Mr. HON Leung Bon g 8/(8)
To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial, business BEEFeMN R-E-_—_F=A=+—H &Fe
or family relationship among the members of the Board as at REMBIENS EBAREBR - BEHAELE
31 March 2022. All of them are free to exercise their individual ST o

judgments.

K/
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Ka Yin was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company in August 2017. He reports to the executive Director
of the Company and assists the Board in functioning effectively
and efficiently. He has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 March 2022.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has a remuneration committee for determining the
remuneration of the Directors. The members of the remuneration
committee are: Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON
Leung. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the committee held
two meetings to discuss remuneration related matters. The number
of meetings attended by each committee member during the year
ended 31 March 2022 is set out in the following table. Figure in
brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the period
in which the individual was a committee member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin REE 2+
Mr. LUK Simon PER 254
Mr. HON Leung kAt

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin is the chairman of the remuneration committee.
The remuneration committee is responsible for the following
functions: determining the policy for remuneration of directors and
senior management, assessing performance of executive directors,
and approving the terms of executive directors’ service contracts.
The remuneration committee has to make recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management. No director or any of his/her
associated director, and chief executive is involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.

NEAME
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HERE
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was set up in March 2022. The
members of the nomination committee are Ms. LIU Xiaoyin,
Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON Leung. Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, is the
chairman of the nomination committee. During the year ended
31 March 2022, the committee held one meeting to discuss
nomination related matters. The number of meetings attended by
each committee member during the year ended 31 March 2022
is set out in the following table. Figure in brackets indicates the
maximum number of meetings in the period in which the individual
was a committee member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin 2+
Mr. HON Leung BmkaE
Mr. LUK Simon BER 2 %A

The primary function of the nomination committee is to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Group’s corporate strategy.

Procedure and Process for Nomination of Directors

The nomination committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of Director(s) including independent non-executive
Director(s) in accordance with the following procedures and
process:

i. The nomination committee will, giving due consideration to
the current composition and size of the Board, develop a list
of desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset
to focus the search effort;

REZEE®
REZBEN T __F=—AKRI -IRBZEEEKE
PRIBERZT ERE2EERBRAE -FBERLR
TAREEZESER REBE_TE-__F=A=+—
BEFE ZESERT—RgH UdmBRRES
EH-ELZEENERBE-_ZE-__F=A=+—H
LTFEHRERZAEIRN TR - BRAATRRE
AATHREAZESXEMBMBITEBEZIRLNE -

Attendance

IR B
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1/(1)
1/(1)
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The nomination committee may consult any source it
considers appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertising, recommendations from a third party agency firm
and proposals from the Shareholders with due consideration
given to the criteria which include but are not limited to:

(a) Diversity in the aspects, amongst others, of gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect
of available time and relevant interest;

(c) Qualifications, including accomplishment and experience
in the relevant industries in which the Group’s business
is involved;

(d) Independence;

(e) Reputation for integrity;

(f) Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the
Board; and

(g) Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The nomination committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates,
such as interviews, background checks, presentations and
third party reference checks;

The nomination committee will consider a broad range of
candidates who are in and outside of the Board’s circle of
contacts;
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v. Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by
way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the
recommendation to the Board for appointment;

vi. The nomination committee will provide the relevant
information of the selected candidate to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration of the remuneration package of
such selected candidate;

vii. The nomination committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and the Remuneration Committee will make the
recommendation to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration;

viii. The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not
members of the nomination committee and the Board will
thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment as the case
may be; and

ix. All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing
of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director
(or any other similar filings requiring the relevant Director
to acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director, as
the case may be) to be filed with the relevant regulatory
authorities, if required.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy to achieve board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors and
measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural background, educational background, skills, knowledge
and professional experience. All Board appointments will be based
on merit, and candidates will be measured against objective
criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee has the delegated responsibilities to
monitor the implementation and review the board diversity policy
and report to the Board.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises the following independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon and
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin. Mr. HON Leung serves as the chairman of the
audit committee. No member of the audit committee is a member
of the former or existing auditor of the Company. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, the audit committee held two committee
meetings. The number of meetings attended by each committee
member during the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out in the
following table. Figure in brackets indicates the maximum number
of meetings in the period in which the individual was a committee

member.

Mr. HON Leung kA
Mr. LUK Simon PER 254
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin TR L+

Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1) to be in charge of the appointment of external auditors,
auditing expenses and any matters regarding the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditors;

(2) to discuss with the external auditors on the nature and
scope of audit prior to the commencement of the auditing
procedures; and

(3) to review the interim and annual accounts. The audit
committee has reviewed the auditing performance, the risk
management and internal controls, and the audited financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2022.
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GENERAL MEETING(S)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company held one
general meeting, i.e. the annual general meeting. The attendance
by each Director at the aforesaid general meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2022 is set out in the following table. Figure in
brackets indicates the maximum number of meeting in the period
in which the individual was a Director.

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee BREZTE
Mr. WU Qi RELLE
Mr. FONG On Shek FEA%E
Mr. LUK Simon BEER 2 A
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin 2+
Mr. HON Leung 3 e

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing corporate governance
functions. This includes developing and reviewing Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements etc. During
the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.

BRERRE
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022, services provided to the
Group by its external auditors, Elite Partners CPA Limited, and the
respective fees paid/payable are set out as follows:

BB B &
HEZZ-—_F=ZA=+—RHILFE INEZEEH

TEEEAMESMERARAARERHEZ RS R
EN/ERZEBEERHRINMT :

HK$
BT
Elite Partners CPA Limited ATlEEesMmEKAMARAR
— Audit services — B IR 460,000
— non-assurance services —EEZERE -
460,000
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE BEEYHHKBRRZ2ER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensures
that they are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure
the timely publication of such consolidated financial statements.
The statement of the external auditors of the Group, Elite Partners
CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 51 to 56.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Responsibility

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
are maintained. Management is responsible for designing,
implementing and monitoring the risk management and internal
control systems to manage risks. Sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems are designed to identify
and manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
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Risk Management Framework

Risk management is enhanced continually, linking to our corporate
strategies and as a continuous part of day-to-day business
operations for all key decision making processes and core business
activities. Major activities of the risk management process include
risk assessment, which constitutes the sub-processes of risk
identification, risk analysis and risk evaluation. There involves also
risk assessment documentation, methodologies, risk treatment,
monitoring and review for ensuring the overall effectiveness of risk
management. Fraud risk management through code of conduct and
whistleblowing policy is adopted to uphold honesty, integrity and
fair play as our core values of the Group at all times. The Board is
responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and for reviewing their effectiveness. The Audit Committee
supports the Board in monitoring the Group’s risk exposures,
the design and operating effectiveness of the underlying risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee,
acting on behalf of the Board, oversees the following processes:

(i) regular reviews of the principal business risks, and control
measures to mitigate, reduce or transfer such risks; the
strengths and weaknesses of the overall internal control
system and action plans to address the weaknesses or to
improve the assessment process;

(i) regular reviews of the business process and operations,
including action plans to address the identified control
weaknesses and status update and monitor in implementing
its recommendations; and

(iii) regular reports by the external auditors, if any, of any
control issues identified in the course of their work and
the discussion with the external auditors of the scope of
their respective review and findings. The Audit Committee
will then report to the Board after due review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board considers the works and
findings of the Audit Committee in forming its own view on
the effectiveness of these systems.
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Internal Control System

The Group’s internal control system aims at safeguarding assets
from inappropriate use, maintaining proper accounts and ensuring
compliance with regulations. The system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against misstatement
or loss, and to manage risks of failure in the Group’s operational
systems. The Group’s internal control system includes a
well-established organizational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Policies and procedures are laid
down for its key business processes and business units covering
business operations, financial reporting, human resources and
computer information systems. The Code of Conduct is maintained
and communicated to all employees for compliance. In addition,
a whistleblowing policy was established for employees to raise
concerns in confidence about suspected misconducts, malpractices
or fraudulent activities relating to the Group.

COSO Internal Controls

The Group’s internal control model is based on that set down
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the U.S.
Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) for internal controls, and has
five components, namely Control Environment; Risk Assessment;
Control Activities; Information and Communication; and Monitoring.
In developing the Group’s internal control model based on the
COSO principles, management has taken into consideration the
Group’s organisational structure and the nature of its business
activities.

(i) Control Environment

The Board has demonstrated a commitment to integrity
and ethical values. It works with independence from
management and exercises oversight of the development
and performance of internal control. Management
establishes the structures, reporting lines, and appropriate
authorities and responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
The Board is committed to attract, develop, and retain
competent individuals in alignment with objectives. It
holds individuals accountable for their internal control
responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

*ERAWME

Risk Assessment

The risk assessment specifies objectives with sufficient
clarity to enable the identification and assessment of risks
relating to objectives. It identifies risks to the achievement
of its objectives across the entity and analyzes risks as a
basis for determining how the risks should be managed. It
also considers the potential for fraud in assessing risks to
the achievement of objectives by identifying and assessing
changes that could significantly impact the system of
internal control.

Control Activities

Management selects and develops control activities that
contribute to the mitigation of risks to the achievement
of objectives to acceptable levels. It also develops
general control activities over technology to support the
achievement of objectives. Control activities through
policies and procedures are established to put into practice.

Information and Communication

Management obtains, generates and uses relevant,
quality information to support the functioning of internal
control. There is internal communication of objectives and
responsibilities necessary to support the functioning of
internal control. External communication regarding matters
affecting the functioning of internal control is made where
necessary.

Monitoring

Management has ongoing evaluations to ascertain whether
the components of internal control are present and
functioning. It evaluates and communicates internal control
deficiencies in a timely manner to those parties responsible
for taking corrective action, including senior management
and the Board, as appropriate.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Controls
Effectiveness

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has engaged an
external professional consultant to take the primary role to perform
the Internal Audit (“IA”) function on behalf of the Board, the Audit
Committee conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems. The annual review
covered all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and considered:

(i) areas of risks identified by management;

(ii) effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems;

(iii) adequacy of the resources, qualification and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function, and their training and budget; and

(iv) any enhancement to the risk management and internal
control systems as identified as being necessary or
proposed in the Internal Control Review Report. The Audit
Committee concluded that the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The Executive Director of the Company also provided a
confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems on 27 June 2022 and
as of that date. As a result of the above, the Board whilst keeping
it under review in light of experience, also considered the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way to avoid placing any
person in a privileged dealing position. The inside information
policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from
breaching the statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements.
The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information.
Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening an Extraordinary

General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

The Company may also communicate with its Shareholders
through extraordinary general meetings, if and when appropriate.

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
the Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings. Any one or more Members holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 89 of the articles of association of the
Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the meeting
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a Notice
signed by a Member (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is
given of his intention to propose such person for election and also
a Notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness
to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
Registration Office not less than seven (7) clear days but not
more than fourteen (14) clear days before the date of the general
meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders Putting Enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the registered
office of the Company in Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Code requires the Company to have a dialogue with
shareholders and it is the responsibility of the Board as a
whole to ensure that satisfactory dialogue does take place. The
primary communication channel between the Company and its
shareholders is through the publication of its interim and annual
reports. The Company’s Registrars serve the shareholders with
respect to all share registration matters. The Company’s annual
general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to
exchange views with the Board. The directors and management
of the Company are available to answer shareholders’ questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
director. Details of the poll voting procedures and rights of
shareholders to demand a poll are included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with the annual report. The
circular also includes details of the procedures and the timetable of
proposing appropriate candidates to stand for election as directors
at annual general meetings, and relevant details of proposed
resolutions, including biographies of each candidate standing for
re-election and whether such candidates are considered to be
independent.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Members of
China Investment and Finance Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 57 to 140, which comprise the consolidated statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2022, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March, 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

Valuation of the Group’s unlisted equity investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 March 2022, fair value measurement of the Group’s
unlisted equity investments at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$15,486,000 were categorised as level 3 in the
fair value hierarchy.

The valuation of the unlisted equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss involved higher degree of estimation
uncertainty, subjectivity and management judgment.

We have identified the valuation of the Group’s unlisted equity
investments through profit or loss as a key audit matter because it
involved significant unobservable inputs which involve significant
management judgements and assumptions and thus involved a
higher degree of uncertainty in the valuation.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our major audit procedures in relation to this matter including the
following:

. We evaluated the competence, capabilities and independence
of the Group’s external valuer;

. We assessed the appropriateness for the selection of the
valuation model used by management based on the market
practice and our knowledge of the nature of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss;
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. We evaluated the reasonableness of the assumptions, inputs
and method of the valuation model used by the Group’s
external valuer.

. We performed an independent sensitivity analysis to evaluate
those assumptions applied to the valuation model for
calculating the fair value of the financial assets; and

C We checked the mathematical accuracy of valuation
calculation.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

Annual R rt
2021/22 @ Eepojﬁﬁ

ERBEEABFEMETEANBRES BMERT
BEHAEIAERERFBREPRS TREEREE-
ZAPIIR -

© BRI RFFHEBENEREERERMEBRA M IRE
FHREARERBAMARER Rt RATESERF
NEHZERR UEBRBREMEENETER
FEREMERNER - AR RFFA S K&
womE BRER ERRL HEBRABE
Wz £ EAREEHRARFEMERNENER
E%LE’]H % B[R] 35 SR T B B B K R AR R e L

 THRERFHEBMANEE URANERRE
T%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ’]%%ﬁz%‘@ﬁﬁ’ﬂﬂ#ﬁ BEEER
MEENBRERRER -

- HEEFEAEASTBENREEREL GG
AAAMEEREN S

- HEFHARBELESTHERMOREEIEL AR
BREMENESEE AESEFEMESHHE
NEBHERTHEEN MAH E£EERFE
KEMRENBERERRE WRBEMABRFEE
ATHBEEE BN ECRHMBEPRBEE
SHMBHRETPOEEREEHOET WEBEN
BEEMTE AAEZITREMOER KRMHOE
MEEREHEZEARE B LTS ETRE -
AR RIREFHXBERAULES SEEITEE

BIHERE -

 MESAVBHERNERIHSA SBENAR
BREEERN UREAVBHRERREEARLET
HEXHRER-

55



56

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E KR B OE &£ B B R 44 F

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBAERE

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Leung Man Kin with Practising Certificate
number P07174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 27 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
% ’é‘ E %ﬁ & E {‘m é E LI& %‘E 43;:2 For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE —ZE - —F=HA=+—HILFE

2022 2021
s —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
bt FERT FHEIT
Gross proceeds from disposal of HEETESZ
listed securities TS sRIA4A %8 22,701 30,371
Revenue Iy = 8 4,478 4,521
Net realised loss on disposal of listed equity & AR FEA
investments at fair value through Bz EMRAEE
profit or loss ZEEBEBFE (455) (5,944)
Net unrealised gain on listed equity AR EFABRREZ
investments at fair value through EMRARE 2 RER
profit or loss W 2= F 58 112 25,980
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AR EFABRREZ
investments at fair value through FLEMRARE 2
profit or loss REREEBRFHE (8,654) (13,152)
Other income E b A 8 - 162
Impairment losses under expected EHEEEBEEEATH
credit loss model, net of reversal REEE (LM ER) 10 8,700 1,282
Administrative expenses TR 2 (10,706) (8,872)
Finance costs A& KA 12 (493) (408)
(Loss)/profit before tax BREBAT (B518) SRR 11 (7,018) 3,569
Income tax credit FrisfiE e 13 = =
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive TXAREBAEGER
(expense)/ income for the year (FE) BAR
attributable to owners of the Company 2HE (X)) WABE (7,018) 3,569
HK cents HK cents
AL P
(Loss)/earnings per share BR(EE) BF
— Basic —EA 15 (2.27) 1.43

— Diluted —#E 15 (2.27) 1.43
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

,2,51-\ ’g‘ EZI' ﬁ% ;'-Ijt 5R 13,\% For the year ended 31 March 2022 #i= — T - —F=A=+—HI-FE
2022 2021
—E_-= B
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FAET
Non-current assets RBEE
Equity investments at fair value INAFEFABREZ
through profit or loss AR & 17 15,486 24,140
Debt investments measured at REHEKATEZ
amortised cost BEBIRE 18 9,775 25,364
25,261 49,504
Current assets REBEE
Equity investments at fair value AR EFABRREREZ
through profit or loss AR E 17 148,345 121,192
Debt investments measured at REEKATEZ
amortised cost BEBIRE 18 12,177 =
Other receivables, prepayments and H b fE Y SRIE - TR RUE
deposits MiEze 20 29,086 29,771
Cash and cash equivalents HeEMREeEEY 21 10,849 2,789
200,457 153,752
Current liabilities RBAE
Margin payables ERRES 22 12,570 4,422
Other payables and accruals EMEARIERETER 3,433 3,328
16,003 7,750
Net current assets RBEEFE 184,454 146,002

Net assets EEFHE 209,715 195,506




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ —Z - - =H=+—HItFE

A MR R

2021/22 Annual Report

£

2022 2021
—E-C—& —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
&t FHERT FET

Capital and reserves EXRFHE
Share capital [N 23 325 271
Reserves EEe] 209,390 195,235
Total equity S 209,715 195,506
Net asset value per share (in HK$) BEREEFE (Bx) 25 0.65 0.72

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 June 2022 and
signed on its behalf by:

CHAN Cheong Yee
BRE=
Director

EFE

BAEMBRREN-ZZZZFNAZtTLARESE
HOERFETZE WEHTIALTHRRES:

FONG On Shek

FEA
Director

EFE

%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEZSBR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &

TE -

FZA=1t—HILFE

Capital Share
Share Share reduction option Accumulated

capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
R ROBE REEEAF#EE BRERE 2 EHE “am
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAR TER TER TER TER THAR

(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))

(K3 (a)) (Ht&E (b)) (Ht&E(c))
As at 1 April 2021 RZE-—FWA—H 271 921,106 112,657 2,620 (841,148) 195,506

Loss and total comprehensive AEEBERZERYBE

expense for the year - - - - (7,018) (7,018)
Issue of new shares under placing BEESETHRN 54 15,940 = = = 15,994
Grant of share options RHERE - - - 5,233 = 5,233
As at 31 March 2022 WR-B-Z§=ZA=+-H 325 937,046 112,657 7,853 (848,166) 209,715

Capital Share

Share Share reduction option  Accumulated

capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
R BiPEE BRAERREE  BREERE 2 ER ks
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THT T TET THT TET

(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (b))

(Fi5E(a)) (M3 (b)) (B3 (b))
As at 1 April 2020 RZZE-FTFWA—A 112,883 914,480 - - (844,717) 182,646

Profit and total comprehensive AEERNREZERALE

income for the year - - - - 3,569 3,569
Reduction of share capital B AR A (112,657) s 112,657 = = =
Issue of new shares under placing REREETHRNG 45 6,626 = = = 6,671
Grant of share options RHERE - - = 2,620 = 2,620
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZB--$=A=+-H 271 921,106 112,657 2,620 (841,148) 195,506




2021/22 Annual Report

F
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
,?ﬁ‘%é‘*&%‘é % Ej] 13)% For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE —ZE - —F=HA=+—HILFE

Notes:

(@) Share premium represents the difference between the par value of
the shares of the Company and proceeds received from the issuance
of the shares of the Company which is governed by the Cayman
Companies Law.

(b) Capital reduction reserve represents the net excess of proceeds on
reduction of share capital.

(c) Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or
estimated number of unexercised share options granted to directors
and employee of the Group recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

HyiE

(@) BOEEBEEARARNZEEEFITAQFRN (ZH
ERFEMRE)ER BT ER -

(b)  BRAHIRL R B BB A AN O PR 15 SRIRF BB #8 -

(c) BREREBEENAKSBEERESRHIERLME
BB ZHARTTEBREZATE EREFEMBHRE
MIZE3 B REA R S E AR ) RERE 2 MR 2 G5t
BURTER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &

MERERER

R 2~ 4

TE -

FZA=1t—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities LRETHRERE
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (E51B) EF (7,018) 3,569
Adjustments for: BATIHEB B AE:
Interest income FE KA (4,275) (4,514)
Dividend income A& B A (203) (7)
Interest expenses FMERE 493 408
Net realised loss on disposal of HENUNRAFEFABREERZ
listed equity investments at fair value ETRARE 2B EREEFE
through profit or loss 455 5,944
Net unrealised gain on listed equity AT EFAEREZ
investments at fair value through ERARE 2 REHR
profit or loss a5 88 (112) (25,980)
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity RATFEFABRERZ
investments at fair value through JEETMRAIEE o REIFEHIBFE
profit or loss 8,654 13,152
Impairment losses under expected EHEEEBEREEX THREEE
credit loss model, net of reversal (MR #EEE) (8,700) (1,282)
Equity-settled share-based payments INIRBEEE ARG BER 2R EX
expenses 5,233 2,620
Operating loss before working LEESEHANKEER
capital changes (5,473) (6,090)
Purchase of equity investments at BEAATFTEFABEEREZRAKE
fair value through profit or loss (50,197) (33,392)
Proceeds from disposal of HENAFEFABEERZ
equity investments at fair value RAIEE 2 FTi55RIA
through profit or loss 22,701 30,371
Purchase of debt investments BEREHEAAFTEZEBRE
measured at amortised cost - (12,000)
Decrease in other receivables, H W RIE - BARERESR D
prepayments and deposits 13,982 16,013
Increase/(decrease) in margin payables M RESZEM CRD) 8,148 (709)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and  H it JE{f F/IE X fE 51 & B
accruals #n Crd) 105 (886)
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F
% ’é‘ I8 ﬁ )\)2@ = 13,\% For the year ended 31 March 2022 #iZ T - —F=A=+—HIFE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

Cash used in from operations KEEFFANRE (10,734) (6,693)
Dividend received Bl R 203 7
Interest received B F & 3,090 1,650
Interest paid B FLE (493) (408)
Net cash used in operating activities K EEFTAMNIR 2T (7,934) (5,444)
Cash flows from financing activities MEITBHRERE
Proceeds from issue of shares under placing 18 % E & % 17 A% 19 F7 18 7018 16,254 6,728
Expenses in connection with issuance HEITROHEENER

of shares (260) (57)
Net cash generated from financing activities Bt & /EEFTERIR & /FEE 15,994 6,671
Net increase in cash and ReRESEEYEMBE

cash equivalents 8,060 1,227
Cash and cash equivalents at the REBEHVCEEIREEEY

beginning of the reporting period 2,789 1,562
Cash and cash equivalents RBERRZRERRSEEY

at the end of the reporting period 10,849 2,789
Analysis of balances of cash and REeERBELEEBYESBRIM

cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances fﬁ%&iﬁﬁ & o 4,515 1,195
Deposits at other financial institutions REM S RERE 2 TR 6,334 1,594

10,849 2,789
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%éﬂji‘%iﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2022 H#E—FT - —F=A=1+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 26 April 2002. The
Company’s shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from
19 September 2002. The registered office of the Company
is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands and its principal office
in Hong Kong is at Room 1104, Crawford House, 70 Queen’s
Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are investment holding
and trading of securities.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Hong
Kong dollar (HK$), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework'’
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Policies?

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use’

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020"

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &

- S

FZA=t—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs

mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate

that the application of all other new and amendments to

HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated

financial statements in the foreseeable future.

(i) Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments:

update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations so that it refers to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) instead of Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued
in October 2010);

add a requirement that, for transactions
and other events within the scope of HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies,
an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a
business combination; and

add an explicit statement that an acquirer does
not recognise contingent assets acquired in a
business combination.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &2 —ZE - =HA=+—HItFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)

()

(ii)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework (continued)

The Group will apply the amendments prospectively
to business combinations for which the date of
acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale
or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements and HKAS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures deal with situations
where there is a sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. Specifically, the amendments state that
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control
of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in
a transaction with an associate or a joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method,
are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests
in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains
and losses resulting from the remeasurement of
investments retained in any former subsidiary (that
has become an associate or a joint venture that
is accounted for using the equity method) to fair
value are recognised in the former parent's profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ —Z - - =H=+—HItFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)

(iii) Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification

of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)
The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

. specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(a) the classification should not be affected
by management intentions or expectations
to settle the liability within 12 months; and

(b) if the right is conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the right
exists if the conditions are met at the end
of the reporting period, even if the lender
does not test compliance until a later date;
and

. clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)

(iii) Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification

of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (continued)
In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised
as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to
align the corresponding wordings with no change in
conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at
31 March 2022, the application of the amendments
will not result in reclassification of the Group’s
liabilities.

(iv) Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies
HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting
policy information may be material because of the
nature of the related transactions, other events
or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information
relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.

2. ERERMBREER (FEMBR
EEA ) 2 BT A (&)

(b) CHEMEMRERZHET BB MK R
SEAREBMBREERN ZBTE
(&)

(iii) EEEEREIR LT EEES
BERRBEHFRORY EEZEES
B —FE-FF) WL (&)

o BEREBESRERE LR
SFARZEFT AT T IAER] - AR IR &

BB AR TE -

BREXAEBR _T-__F=A=+—
Bz AREEAE ERZEEIAET
CEYPAREBRBE s EN B

(iv) EEBEERIEIKREEBHBHE
EREFRER F29 2 15T X E 71 B
RZHE
BEREGENEIRTUET UNIE

BRI BRERIBRAA [EXRGET
R —F-HEBERMERR A
HEN—HEZER ATARRHASY
E-RASHMBBRRIIBEERELR
REEFBRERMELZRE  BIEFHEK
RENBEKN-

ZEEIARNER ARBEEXS 2 1E
B HhEHBER EeBLTE

CERTBERER I REBE K o AR
WIMBEEBEAR 5 EMEMFHIT
MZEABKRENAGHBER - HE
BEERBETERZEFEERER 8
ERERITSRMERSABEREN:

69



70 China Investment and Finance Group Limited

B OB &

£ B & R o4 #

B &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)

(iv) Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice

(v)

Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to
the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group but may affect the
disclosures of the Group’s significant accounting
policies. The impacts of application, if any, will
be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates
as “monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An
accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves
measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting
policy may require such items to be measured at
monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly
and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an
entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve
the objective set out by the accounting policy.
Developing accounting estimates involves the use
of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &2 —ZE - =HA=+—HItFE

ERAEEMBHRELED ([FEMBER
HEA ) 2B A (&)

(b) EEMEEMKRERZHATETRMBER
EREARBRBMBEREEN 2ETAE
(&)

(iv) EEEEAE1EREBHBRE

(v)

EREFKER FE29 2 15T X E 7 B
RZHE (&)

AV HWMERAER LR L2 L
EARHE ([1EXERDIRT RERT
A BB [ EL Rz EXE
FlIERAREFABRREBERHNEEHES
ARRZENMROHEAVBERRESE
Ko RPlFEIMALEEER

BEHERZSEITATEEARERD
MBMRRNIKRRELBATE R
FEAGBERGTBRRZHE -EA
MEE (B ENAKRERRZEA
MBWMETHE -

EBETERESR BT X B
itZESE
ZEEI NG AT ERR (M B®R
RPGEFETHEEZERSE] -
S BRRAEERLMBERERP 2EE
AFERFETHEEZAFE-D
BRI BERAREERZERANEELZE
BBERZERSHIE MUBETR
eI BER T EREHIE S A
NEHEFBERMEZBFE -BIESR
BEESRRESHAAGRAEEHR
1 I T SRR



Annual R rt
2021/22 @ ;m;&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
% é ,E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ —Z - - =H=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)

(v)] Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of
Accounting Estimates (continued)
In addition, the concept of changes in accounting
estimates in HKAS 8 is retained with additional
clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

(vi) Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
The amendments narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities
and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24
of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no longer
applies to transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant
assets and liabilities as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to relevant assets and liabilities
are assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
will recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for
all deductible and taxable temporary differences
associated with the right-of-use assets and the
lease liabilities.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)

(vi) Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related

to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction (continued)
The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023,
with early application permitted. The Group is still
in the process of assessing the full impact of the
application of the amendments.

(vii) Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments specify that the costs of any
item that were produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management (such
as samples produced when testing whether the
relevant property, plant and equipment is functioning
properly) and the proceeds from selling such items
should be recognised and measured in the profit or
loss in accordance with applicable standards. The
cost of the items are measured in accordance with
HKAS 2 Inventories.

The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)

(vilAmendments to HKFRSs Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the
following standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of
assessing whether modification of terms of original
financial liability constitutes substantial modification
under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes
only fees paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by
either the borrower or the lender on the other’s
behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to Illustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16 removes from the
example the illustration of reimbursement relating
to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to
remove any potential confusion.

HKAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the
requirements in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
by removing the requirement in paragraph 22 of
HKAS 41 to exclude taxation cash flows when
measuring the fair value of a biological asset using
a present value technique.

The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESBHBRHBE

POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange and by the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods or services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not they control an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets, and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding amount at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEETHRME (&)
POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs BERAE

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed in the MPF Scheme. The
Group has no forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e.
contributions processed by the employer on behalf of the
employee who has exited the scheme prior to vesting of such
contributions). As at 31 March 2022, no forfeited contribution
under the pension scheme of the Group is available for
deduction of contribution payable in coming years.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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mEMBHRRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported
in the profit or loss because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

3.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESTHHEME (F)

POLICIES (continued)

Provisions BiE

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present EAXAEBABASHARERBEREMT CEELHE
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, E) -MAKEAEABNEEEE BEAHEEAE
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that SRR SEMETRERT A EREE-

obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a

ERABELERNREREHATABNRR
RIAHERRR RERESHBERRK SIEEZ
REREMAAEZRENREML HEEE
REEZREEEINEARERENE EEEE

provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle ERAZSHReRECHE(MEENEHE

the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present BEK) o

value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value

of money is material).

Financial instruments SRIA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when VBEERMBEEREEEEKAZIAESLN
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions BXHETNTRER - TEREHEENNBKE

of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of ERXSHBHEERRARKRIBR - REHRESE
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade FEEREMIGHRES BT ERRARNEER

date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial

MHEEESR-

MBEENMBAGBVNIRATFENE - WHEX
BOUMBEERMBAE( DA“THEEJM\TE%
MPBEERINBEREBENRZRA  ROE

liabilities (other than financial assets at FVTPL) are added BRRFAMBEEXMBEGEN AT EREH
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets BEEXVBBEMNQAFEFRNR (WMER) -
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. BEUATFEFABEENNBEENEERER

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as

revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “net unrealised loss on listed/unlisted equity
investments at FVTPL” and “net realised loss on disposal
of listed equity investment at FVTPL” line items.
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mEMBHRRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including debt
investments measured at amortised cost, other receivables
and deposits, bank balances and deposits at other financial
institutions). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting

date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

For all financial assets at amortised cost, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a

default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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mEMBHRRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

(iv)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain other receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is

calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including margin payables, other payables
and accruals are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institution, and short-term liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.

3.
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mEMBHRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, related parties
include a person and entity as defined below:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

(ii) either entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of a third entity;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Company or an
entity related to the Company. If the reporting entity
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii)) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

3.
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?ﬁ-‘-\ ’g‘ E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' -EI For the year ended 31 March 2022 =~ T -~ F=A=+—HIFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESTHHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued) BMEAL (&)
(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any (b) WAETHGRE NEBERER (Z2RE
of the following conditions applies: (continued) B)B#ME: (&)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (Vi) ZEBIEHMBEE 2 FMKE QA
part, provides key management personnel services MARBIAEETARREETES
to the Company or the Group’s parent. BAERSE-

Close members of the family of a person are those R ATHEBRREXERERLHZE

family members who may be expected to influence, or be ENRFIPATEZATHZZATEEY

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity REBKEIBIE:

and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic (i) ZBRATHTFAREBIREMSE:
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic (i) ZBALTHEBIREMBH T K
partner; or

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse (i) ZBATHZEATHEBRRER
or domestic partner. BRZEA-

Contingent assets/liabilities BRREEBE

Contingent assets BEREE

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected IAREBEELEBHFABEMEIEG K
events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic AREAAREETREEMRRA  EA-ER
benefits to the Group and they are not recognised in the REMBMERANER  REBEFENHHA
consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses EEMEE MEFRLBEHSEELSER
continually the development of contingent assets. If it has mAAAAREER R EEHREHABN
become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits FEMTBERRERERE RBBARKA -

will arise, the Group recognises the asset and the related
income in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change occurs.



mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contingent assets/liabilities (continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be met
by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

3.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

Classification of investments in unlisted equity
securities:

Certain investments in unlisted equity securities are not
classified as an associate nor accounted for using equity
method, even though the Group owns or potentially owns
more than 20% ownership interest in those investments. In
the opinion of the directors, the Group has no significant
influence over those investments since the Group and each
of the investee entered into a relevant agreement to conclude
the followings:

—  the Group did not have any representative on the board
of directors or equivalent governing body of those
investments;

—  the Group did not participate in policy-making processes,
including participation in decisions about dividends or
other distributions; and

—  the Group did not interchange any managerial personnel
with those investments.

As the Group did not act to fulfill any one of the issues stated
above, it does not consider as having significant influence on
the investments. Hence, those investments are not considered

as the associate of the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk in measurement of
ECL

As explained in note 3, the Group monitors all financial assets
that are subject to impairment requirements to assess whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit
risk, the Company will measure the loss allowance based on
lifetime rather than 12m ECL. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased
the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative
reasonable and supportable forward-looking information with
significant judgments involved. Information that will be taken
into account when assessing whatever there is significant
increase in credit risks are set out in “Impairment of financial
assets” in note 3 and note 6.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The management of the
Company determines the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs for fair value measurements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes
(continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
For instruments with significant unobservable inputs under
Level 3, the Group engages independent professional valuer
to perform the valuation. The management of the Company
works closely with the independent professional valuer to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The management of the Company reports the
valuation findings to the board of directors of the Company to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets
and liabilities.

The Group uses valuation technique that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 7 provides
detailed information about the valuation technique, inputs and
key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of
various assets and liabilities.

Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost

The directors of the Company estimate the amount of loss
allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortised cost
based on the credit risk of the respective financial instrument.
The loss allowance amount is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows with the consideration of expected
future credit loss of the respective financial instrument. The
assessment of the credit risk and therefore expected cash
flows of the respective financial instrument involves a high
degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future
cash flows are less than expected or more than expected,
a material impairment charges or a material reversal of
impairment charges may arise, accordingly. The information
about the ECL and the financial assets at amortised cost are
disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)

In response to the requirements of HKFRS 9, the directors of
the Company is responsible in developing and maintaining the
processes for measuring ECL including monitoring of credit
risk, incorporation of forward looking information and the
method used to measure ECL; and ensuring that the Group
has policies and procedures in place to appropriately maintain
and validate models used to assess and measure ECL.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group employs internal experts who use external and
internal information to generate scenario of future forecast
of relevant economic variables. The internal and external
information used includes the historical data of the Group
and economic data and forecasts published by governmental
bodies and monetary authorities respectively. Accordingly,
when measuring ECL the Group selects and uses reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information available without
undue cost or effort in its assessment, which is based on
assumptions and estimates for the future movement of
different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect
each other as well as the correlation.

Measurement of ECL

Probability of default (“PD”) constitutes a key input in
measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of
default over a given time horizon, the calculation is based
on reasonable and appropriate statistical rating models
selected by the management with judgments. These statistical
models are based on market data (where available), as
well as internal data comprising both quantitative and
qualitative factors which includes historical data, assumptions
and expectations of future conditions. The management
gathers this information and adjust the data to reflect
probability-weighted forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue cost or
effort.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Loss Given Default (‘LGD”) is an estimate of the loss
arising on default. It is based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender
would expect to receive. In assessing the lifetime ECL on
credit-impaired financial assets classified as stage 3, the
Group performs the assessment based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
specific to the debtors or borrowers, general economic
conditions and both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions with
significant judgments involved. The methodology and
assumptions used for estimating both the amount and
timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce
material differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.

Details information with regard to the exposure to credit
risk and expected credit losses are set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure by considering the
cost of capital and the risks associated with capital. In view
of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new shares issues as well as the issue of new debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €W ITH

Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

¢RMIAZSE
REBEHEERRE SRR TAZEREAEN
T

follows:
Financial Financial
Financial assets at liabilities at
assets at amortised amortised
FVTPL cost cost Total
LATE REHERE REHEREX
sFABRREK TEZ TEZ
ZHBEE HBEE HHAE @t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TERT TERT TERT
2022 —EC-CE
Debt investments measured at amortised cost K E M A E 2 EBRIRE = 21,952 = 21,952
Equity investments at FVTPL URATEFABRERERE 163,831 = = 163,831
Other receivables and deposits HiEURHIEREE - 29,054 - 29,054
Cash and cash equivalents BehBHeEEY = 10,849 = 10,849
163,831 61,855 - 225,686
Margin payables ERRES - - 12,570 12,570
Other payables and accruals Heb M B R BT E R = = 3,433 3,433
- - 16,003 16,003
Financial Financial
Financial assets at liabilities at
assets at amortised amortised
FVTPL cost cost Total
WATE  RBERE REBERAK
FAERR TEZ HEZ
LHBEE HEEE nKasE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEL TER TET FTEL
2021 —E--F%
Debt investments measured at amortised cost XK A E 2 BEBRE = 25,364 = 25,364
Equity investments at FVTPL WATEFABRRCREEE 145,332 - - 145,332
Other receivables and deposits HEb B Rk = 29,752 = 29,752
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkREeEEY - 2,789 - 2,789
145,332 57,905 - 203,237
Margin payables EfRES = = 4,422 4,422
Other payables and accruals HtEN B REER - - 3,328 3,328

- - 7,750 7,750
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments at FVTPL, debt investments measured at
amortised cost, other receivables and deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, other payables and accruals, and margin
payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies applied by the Group to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is not exposed to significant foreign currency
risk as the all of its transactions are denominated in HKS,
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the bank balances carried at floating interest rate. The
Group currently does not have a hedge policy against the
interest rate exposure. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider the hedging significant
interest rate exposure as needed.

Sensitivity analysis

The directors consider that the Group’s exposure to interest
rate risk of bank balances, which are short term in nature, is
insignificant, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Equity price risk

The Group’s equity price risk relates to equity price changes
arising from listed securities held for trading stated in listed
equity investments at FVPL. The Group’s listed securities held
for trading are listed on the Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy
and sell listed securities are rested with assigned investment
managers and governed by specific investment guidelines.
The Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
securities operating in 2 (2021: 2) sectors quoted in the Stock
Exchange.

TR I A (&)

MERREEEEREE
AEEZTEZeMIAREAATEFARER
ZBRAKRE RBEKAFEZEBRE Hit
R RERZE RELRSEFEY HMEN
REREAHERUREANRES ZFERTH
ZHBREEMEARE EZEERTABHLZ
JeR e B AN = ) ot R 6 7% % L B BT E AR 2 BRGR K )
MT-EEEEERZTRR ARRKEA N
1B A B o

S5 R B

HRAEBOAERXZARRA REMBARZ
W BB E MAKE L EAEERIE
[z o

A 2R &b
AEBRERENTRAREIBEEPTRAFHNE
FHEZRITAE R - AR B 3R I I A K B o
BR- AWM EEBEERMERAR XHNER
ERZBEDERNF KRR -

BRBRED T
EERRASEBRMME 2 RITERAEEZ
FRERRIY B - E I &2 5 GRE DT -

IR R B E b
AEEEEERRAREREETSLETES (GAA
URAFEFABRR 2 ETRARE)FELEZ
REEREDEB - AKERKEEELTESFR
BRXpfEm - LMESMEERTAEENRE
REAE YRIFENRERSIFEE A%
B2 B R B AR R e 2 AR PO B XX AT R B A 21
(ZF =% 2f8) TR EFMBRAES -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

If the price of the respective investments held by the Group
as listed equity investments at FVTPL were higher or lower
by 5% as at 31 March 2022 (2021: 5%), the Group’s loss for
the year ended 31 March 2022 would decrease or increase by
approximately HK$7,417,000 (2021: HK$5,060,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to debt investments measured at
amortised cost, other receivables and deposits, bank balances
and deposits at other financial institutions. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial
assets under ECL model. Information about the Group’s credit
risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and the
related impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised
as below:

Debt investments measured at amortised cost

The Group invested in a bond issued by a listed company in
Hong Kong which exposed to credit risk. The credit risk of
debt investments is managed through an internal process.
The credit quality of each counterparty is investigated before
an advance is made. The Group also actively monitors the
outstanding amounts owed by the issuer and uses past
due information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The Group actively
monitors the outstanding amounts owed by each debtor and
uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Bank balances and deposits at other financial
institutions

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered to be
insignificant.

Credit risk for deposits at other financial institutions
is considered as not material taking into account the
good market reputations and high credit ratings of the
counterparties.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &=L - —F = A=+—HIEFE

EWMIA(HF)
1= & 3 B 3 ORi (B AP Al ()
RITRGBRRAMEHEEH A

HREFHTRAEBEREEFARE W&#ﬂﬂ*%
FENEBRIFZRIT WRTERZEER
B ZIS‘E@ﬂ%“ﬁ‘ﬁ%l\%ﬁﬁ,\%i&%%%ﬁﬁé’]
HEEEARSERANELOMERBENER 7
1&7%&{7,\‘nﬁ%2121lﬂ?E,HMZTEEE?E°$E'<Tf“?i’]
BARX - RITEKRZIEARHREEBEERIR
RN B

REEHFITRENTHBERSEENL R
HoBEBTFRINEERREE/SLTEKN

AEBNABEERBRFRFHEEATER:

Internal Financial assets
credit rating Description at amortised cost
REBERATEN
AEBEEFTR it MBEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 12m ECL
any past-due amounts
1K = bz HFEANENRBEE UEREAEHEE 12 AR BEEEE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle in full 12m ECL
L BEHRALERINPREBEN BRE2HENE 12 BB HIEE BB
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since Lifetime ECL —
initial recognition through information developed internally not credit-impaired
or external resources
T7 &t BAABINIBERGHNER  TRIBVFRBUARGCERAREZIEN 2PEPEEHE-
BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired
BE BREBEXPAZEECHREERE >HEMREEEE -
BEERIE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is written off

1 55

difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

BFRBRABBARRBENMHERELAEEY BEROKDE RS

MiH S
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. TWMIHE(E)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERBRREENE (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRFINASBAETHEBEEBETHNGT®
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL BEMEERR :
assessment:
2022 2021
—E-_CF —E--F
Gross Gross
External Internal carrying Loss carrying Loss
credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount  allowance
128528
HBEETR ABEETR HHEEFA RHEAE EFERE REAE EREE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TR TET TET

Financial assets
at amortised cost

BREMATENTEEE
Debt investments measured N/A Low risk 12m ECL
at amortised cost 29,184 7,232 29,184 3,820
RERRATEEBRE TEA YA 12EAEREESSR
Other receivables and deposits N/A Low risk 12m ECL 15,107 - 22 -
Hit B HIE RIES TEA igENE 1218 AR HA
FEF#R
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL
- not credit-impaired 26,365 12,418 39,180 9,450
@R R 2HEACEESR
-EEERE
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL
— credit-impaired 300 300 15,380 15,380
TEA Bx 2HEAGEEER
—EERE
Bank balances Baa 2 or above N/A 12m ECL 4,515 - 1,195 -
|ITHEE Baa 23k A & TEA 1218 AT HA
FEFR
Deposits at other financial N/A Low risk 12m ECL
institutions 6,334 - 1,594 -
REMSBBENTR A igEN 1218 AT H

FEBER
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

6. 2WMIA (&)
FEERRREEN (&)
TRINFERZBHKNATEZHHEEER

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances

that has been recognised for financial assets measured at BIERE K
amortised cost:
Stage 2 Stage 3
Stage 1 Lifetime Lifetime
12m ECL ECL ECL Total
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
P& B2 :1:) B E3
128 A 2HEE 2HEE
FERBR FEER FEER @it
(BEEHE) (FERE)
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TER TER
As at 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZTFNA—AH 3,089 11,763 15,080 29,932
Changes due to financial instruments ERAREHIAESY

recognised: 25

- Transfer -BR (19) - 19 =
Impairment losses recognised BRIREESR 750 (2,313) 281 (1,282)
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—%=ZA=+-HEK

—E-—-#pNA—H 3,820 9,450 15,380 28,650
Changes due to financial instruments ERAReBIAEEY

recognised: 2%):

— Transfer —EE - - - -
Impairment losses recognised BERAMEER 3,412 2,968 = 6,380
Impairment losses reversal (note) BEEBBRER (M) - = (15,080) (15,080)
As at 31 March 2022 R-E--#=H=+-H 7,232 12,418 300 19,950
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2020, Jetland Global Investments
Limited (“Jetland”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has
made an impairment on the outstanding receivable for disposal of
investment in Help U Credit Limited of HK$15,080,000. In April 2020,
Jetland issued a statutory demand against the debtor to recover the
same amount. In June 2020, the debtor took out the application to set
aside the statutory demand in High Court of The Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“the Court”). His application was dismissed
in December 2020. The debtor appealed the High Court decision
and placed the disputed sum together with legal costs, totalling
HK$15,365,000 (the “Sum”) into the Court, and the Sum would be paid
out to Jetland in the event that the appeal is dismissed based on a
Court order. The appeal was dismissed in October 2021. Accordingly,
the reversal of impairment of HK$15,080,000 is recognised in profit or
loss for the year ended 31 March 2022. Subsequent to the end of the

reporting period, the Sum was received.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group are unable to meet
their payment obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate reserves, as well as continuously
monitoring cash flow forecast and actual cash flows.

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents that is
adequate in management discretion. In formulating their
strategy, management would consider the financing of the
Group’s operations and the effects of fluctuation in operating
and investing cash flows. As at 31 March 2022, the liquidity
of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain
adequate cash flows from operations and to raise funds
through issue and allotment of new shares to meet its debt
obligations and investment project opportunities as they fall
due or arise.

The remaining contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the earliest
date that the Group can be required to pay, are within one
year or on demand (2021: within one year or on demand).
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{2 8 LB BR8P 4 (40
B o

REBEZE-_ZT_ZEF=A=+—BHBLEFE X2
7] K 2 & B B A 7 Jetland Global Investments
Limited ([Jetland ) Bt HERE AP BER L
AIRYIR & M AR UFRIBE L 15,080,000 7T AY RL(E ©
NZZ-_ZTFMA  Jetland AIEBHAEHEER
BE AKEZEE-R-_E-ZTF A BKA
mMAESFNTRReEER (DER])REHEE -
ERBWEZEZTREBEE - RIPFR BT F
TZARBE -EHAHSEEROEARRLE £
o 0 R S R ARIR E R A 2 B A $£5115,365,000
BT ([RIE]) REER - ez R BB IAR o
LW E - AIRIE X  T Jetland © B B £ &F
ERZZZ—FTAEBRE Bt HEHD
15,080,000 TEREBE T _—_F=A=+—
HIEFEMNEEPRR ZEEREHR REE
W B

MENE & [ 15 AN R B N B 7S B R B RS R B
THEMBAERBANREFEZER -KNEEE
BRBARZHEBUARBEERRSRERAR
ERBHenETRRDESAR -

REERDECRRME AEEKRERRS
SENERRERNEEERRREAZKT-E
EEARFIRRESZEEAKRELLEHZHE
NREEEHRREZEEREZEBTE -
TECCF-A=t+—RB AEEZRBESE
BEEURNEL AR ERNELRDMANESRE -
Ve ERNEBEEIMEHRKEFEBRESRE
BEITREBEMBODETEE -

AEEVBABERBEHRERKZHRTAOH
TR—FERAXBRERBEE(ZFT_—F:—F
ARRBRKKEE) (REAHARBREASRE
RAEBASXNRBZZFABRE) -
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had following
financial instruments carried at fair value all of which
are based on the Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy:

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &2 —ZE - =HA=+—HItFE

7. DVEEE

(i)

NERERUATEFEZAEEHK
EERAYE

RZBZZFR-ZZT=-—F=A=+—8"
AEEBUTSRIA HERAFEERD
EZ2E R F_RRE=FARFEAR:

2022 2021
—E__ g%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Level 1: F—H:
Financial assets at FVTPL NAFEHFABGRZVEEE
— listed equity investments — FIBRAERE 148,345 121,192
Level 3: F=4:
Financial assets at FVTPL NAFEHFAEBRERZVBKEE
— unlisted equity investments —FFELETRAKE 15,486 24,140
163,831 145,332

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of
the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

AEEZBRRHEZEHHEE AR
HEBERESHE AERZ @R 28 A
B o

AEBETHBEERYBABIAZTRSE
HMERB 2 A FEFE  TRENEBZ
SUBEENYBREZAFEMAFEE (A
BmMs MERGERTRBABRE 2E
£t o
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)

Fair value
Financial assets 2022 2021 hierarchy
HBEE ZE-f ZZ--5 QVEER
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAR
Unlisted equity investments 15,486 24,140 Level 3
classified as equity
investments at FVTPL
PRANATEHABERL 15,486 24140 E=H
BRARE 2 F LR AR?
Listed equity investment 148,345 121,192 Level 1
classified as equity
investments at FVTPL
PEBUATEABRE 148,345 121192 £—%
LRAREZ LTRARE

In estimating the fair value of unlisted equity investment,
the management of the Company work closely
with International Valuation Limited to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
The management of the Company reports the findings
to the directors at the end of each reporting period to
explain the cause of fluctuations in fair value.

2021/22 Annual Report
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7. AF¥EE (HE)

£

FZA=t—HILFE

(i) NERERUAFEFEBZAKEYH

EEATE(&H)

Relationship of
Valuation Significant unobservable
technique(s) unobservable inputs inputs to fair value

FABR

Y| BABBE

fhE R BEGAHE NYEZBE
Discount cash flow with future ~ Free cash flow The higher of the free

cash flows that are estimated
based on expected recoverable
amounts, discounted at rates
that reflect management’s best
estimation of the expected risk
level

ARBENERERATUOEE BhReRE
fEEHMERRENE NRRY
EREHRARMRKT 251
fhEr L EER

cash flow, the higher
of the fair value, vice
versa

BRALREMEN AT
A

Discounted rate that ~ The higher of the

correspond to

the discount rate, the

expected risk level lower of the fair value,

vice versa

HRESRERKTZ MEFEA ATEEN

IRk

Quoted bid prices in an active ~ N/A
market

ERMSEAE TEA

HEELTRARENATER ARRE
B RBERFEERAR TG ELE
ERERMEZRAZBARE AQFE
BEEREREWRROESERFBALER N

BEATERBZR

& o
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7.
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that

(i)

For the year ended 31 March

(i)

are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

(continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

022 HE-_E-_—F=ZA=+—HItFE

DNFEFE (&)

DERERUAFEABZAKEMK
BEEQAYVHE (&)

BERAFlEFSEHKZ

2021 —E-—F

Unlisted equity

securities

classified

as equity

investments at

FVTPL

PEAULNFE

FTABREZ

BRAEREZ

FEHBRAES

HK$’000

FERT

As at 1 April 2020 RZZE_ZTFMWA—H 37,292
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity MAFEFABSEREZELETREAREZ

investments at FVTPL REBR B FE (13,152)

As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R-E-_—F=ZA=+—Bk=ZZT-_—FWMA—H 24,140
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AR EFABREREZELTRARE Z

investments at FVTPL REBEEETFE (8,654)

As at 31 March 2022 R-—ZBE-_-—®=HA=+—H 15,486

Of net unrealised loss on unlisted equity investments at

FVTPL, all (2021: all) relates to unlisted equity securities

classified as equity investments at FVTPL held at the

end of the current reporting period.

MRARFEFABERZIFLTRAKRE
ZARBRERBFET 2B (ZFT=_—%F:
EMHEAFEHRFTENDERURF
B ABRRZBARE ZF EHRAE
HM-
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. AVEE(R)

(ii) Fair values of financial instruments carried at (ii)
other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31 March
2022 and 2021 due to their short-term maturities.

YHAAFEFEZEMTIRAZATVE

R-ZT=—— —_E-_—4®=ZA=+—H
NEHEAARIENASEN B EE R WB
BEZEEENREATENEEREZEE &
HHERBANEE -

HK$162,000 from the government to support the Group’s
operations under Employment Support Scheme. There were no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to the government
grants.

8. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 8. WaEKHMUWA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income are as REE 2z Wm REMBADTET
follows:
2022 2021
—E-C—8F —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FE T
Revenue: Wz
Dividend income from equity investments AR F{EFF ABRE ZBRAEE
at FVTPL Z R B A 203 7
Interest income from debt investments at  Z#E K AT EZEHIREZ
amortised cost F 2 WA 3,090 2,645
Interest income from other receivables H b U FRIE 2 B B A 1,185 1,869
Interest income from brokers wgad 2 R B A —* —*
Interest income from bank accounts RITTERZF BWA —* —*
4,478 4,521
Other income PN = 162#
4,478 4,683
* Amount less than HK$1,000 * 2T E1,000% T
S During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group received & REF-ZF-Z—F=ZFA=+—HIFE F£EH

BB FTHI R 5 X 5T &) 157 162,00058 7T X 5 5%
(3] ) B o B A B BT 7 B B R A SR 3 3
AREM -
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10.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s
revenue and results were mainly derived from the interest
income and dividend income from investment holding. The
executive director, being the chief operation decision maker,
considers that these activities constitute one and the only
business segment since these transactions are subject to
common risks and returns. The executive directors monitors
the operating results of its investment business as a whole
for the purpose of making decision about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Given the nature of the
Group’s business was operated as a single segment, it is
not considered meaningful to provide an operating segment
analysis of financial performance.

Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosure, major customers and
geographical information are presented.

Geographical information

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, all activities
of the Group are based in Hong Kong and all of the Group’s
revenue was derived from Hong Kong. Accordingly, no
geographical analysis of revenue and assets is presented.

Information about major customers
Given that the nature of the Group’s operation is investment
holding, there was no information regarding major customers

as determined by the Group.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &2 —ZE - =HA=+—HItFE

BHE_Z-_—_FR-ZF-_—F=ZA=+—AHL*#F
E AEEREREFTFEZRBRETER ZME
WARREWA - HITES (X ELEREKSE)
R BHRZERZAXAR E kR &K At
ZEEEXNE - RE—EBOH - RNITESE
REBRREER R EEBEUNERERSE R
REFEIEEARAE - ENAEBELEE —HEH
EBME SR BRRREHEESHLITESR
Ko

HAit EZ25ERFE T2EPRIBEEHR -

& &R
RBE_ZT_—_FR-_F-_—F=ZA=Z+—AHL

FE - AKEREEKARBBET MAKE
ZHBEREMREEE - Bt HEZ25 K a Kk
BENBROTER-

ERTEREFNESR
ENAEERLLEEBUEENRERER RAEHE
BE AREYEFAIERFPNER -

10. AHEEEREXTHRERSE (B

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL BREEE)
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised on:  FLIATIER (BM0) #ER 2 BEEE :
— Other receivables — H W R IE (12,112) (2,032)
— Debt investments measured at —RBEKNAFTECEBRRE
amortised costs 3,412 750
(8,700) (1,282)

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

BB RT il B BRI L6 o
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11. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

2021/22 Annual Report
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ —Z - - =H=+—HItFE

1. BREAT (BE]) 85R

£

2022 2021
- —E-—%F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FET

(Loss)/profit before tax has been BRELAT (BIB) E A Dk

arrived at after charging/(crediting): (AU TIBREESH:
Directors’ remunerations ExMe

— Fees & 1,020 705

— Other remunerations —Hae - 331

— Equity-settled share-based payments —ARELEE RN BER 2K 1,398 530
Total directors’ remunerations BEEWE 2,418 1,566
Staff costs BTRA

— Basis salaries and other benefits —EAXFe REAMET 674 756

— Equity-settled share-based payments — AR BEEE AR D BER 2 AR 3,835 2,090

— Retirement benefits scheme —RRERE & 32 33
Total staff costs (excluding directors’ BETIXA(TEEESEHE)

remunerations) 4,541 2,879
Auditors’ remuneration 1% HR0 B & 460 460
Equity-settled share-based payments VARG BE 45 B LA 0 A B 2 A 3K

(included in directors’ remunerations (ERRTELiZEEHe R

and staff costs above) 8 T RA) 5,233 2,620
Investment manager fee HELIEEHR 720 866
Net unrealised gain on listed equity AAFEGFABREZ ETRA

investments at fair value through WE 2 RSB FE

profit or loss (112) (25,980)
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity URAFEGFABEREZIFLETRA

investments at fair value through REZRERBEFE

profit or loss 8,654 13,152
Expenses related to short-term lease EHEERBRAX 90 90

Ng
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12.

13.

FINANCE COSTS

\/|
/

Interest on margin financing wholly %

i
L
i SN

U
m;
i

Fal

=103
koj

repayable on demand

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &2 —ZE - =HA=+—HItFE

12. B E KA
2022 2021
- —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
493 408

INCOME TAX CREDIT

No provision for the Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group either incurred tax loss or has no assessable profit
for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of
Hong Kong Profits Tax as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

13. FiIBSHER

HE T - —FR-_FT-__FZA=+—HLF
B BARASEYEELEHEEEITIERGRER
Foad MU EEHEERNSHEE-

BEEEFEHZANEHMAS FEARNE
& %8 52,000,000/ 7T 89 5 FI 8 B = 58.25%
i i 82,000,000 7T & 4 F1| 89 7 2 516.5% © T
FEMNESHMAFNERNEEER SR HEER
B — B R16.5% AN »

EZRRERBTANEHR ZMNEHMAHIFL R
CEREREMBRRYBEEABE -MEFE
BB N SH IR AT ERTUEN 216.5% &
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% ’é‘ /E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2022 H#E—F - —F=A=1+—HIFE
13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 13. FREHER (&)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/
profit before tax using the statutory tax rate for the Hong
Kong Profits Tax in which the Company and its subsidiaries
are domiciled is as follows:

FEBEHATRERBA (BER) 8 F IR
T TR AR E T AR R R N E BB R R R AT
B BNEH EERE

2022 2021
—Eg-— —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (BB) HF (7,018) 3,569
Tax at the statutory tax rate RAEEMEFEZHIE (1,158) 589
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR MBI 2 B2
for tax purposes 3,205 2,876
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARBRAZB BT E (2,597) (1,245)
Utilisation of deductible temporary BRI AERZANREGFERE
differences previously not recognised (18) (3,136)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ARV BBEB BB 2 568 916
Tax credit for the year FEMERSE - =

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$478,120,000 (2021:
HK$470,690,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such
losses for both years due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams. All unrecognised tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary difference of approximately HK$345,237,000 (2021:
HK$345,348,000) arising from the net unrealised loss on
financial assets held for trading. No deferred tax assets have
been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised.

G AR A SRR REBE RS AT H RS F
A BRI E B B478,120,0008 L (= F
= — 4% :470,690,000/8 7T ) © FR A R 2R ) O A
ARG MU ERZMNEFENEBEERERE
ERHIE A B - FTA R R B IS 5189 7] LA R A7
ko

RBEEHMERS AEEREERIEFEEREL
MBEEZAZEEBERFBEEEAZANBY
B 2 58 4) /5345,237,0008 7T (—F — — 4
345,348,000/ 7T ) ° B3 KT K AT B BE AT 0B
ZREES ERB S M EIR - Rk At B RE A 10
REREHEERRCHEEE -
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14.

15.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2022,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2021: nil).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share was based on the loss attributable to owners of the
Company of HK$7,018,000 (2021: profit of HK$3,569,000)
and the weighted average number of 308,917,000 (2021:
249,022,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 March 2022 does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s share options since their assumed exercise would
result in a decrease in loss per share for the year ended
31 March 2022.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2021 does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s share options since the exercise price of those
share options was higher than the average market price of
shares for the period from the date of the grant of share
options to 31 March 2021.

14.

15.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &2 —ZE - =HA=+—HItFE

B2

BHEZZ-ZF=A=1+—HALFE XEERAAX
AREBRRERNIEZRARE B WEH
NEVEEZRRNEARE(ZEZ—F &) -

BR (FEB) &R

BREAREE (BE) /B TIBEARA R
B AFEEEET,018,0008 T (Z T = —F %A
3,569,000 70 ) R AFE B BT E @R INE TS
£7308,917,0000% ( — & — — 4F : 249,022,000/% )

Ny
AtE -

HEEE T —F-A=Z+—HLEFENER
ESEBERTERIAARBREETE B
BREETEBSEFRE S -_—_F=ZF=1—
HIEFERNEGREERRD -

HEBE_T - —F=A=T—HILFENER
BEERNRYERREAADNBREETE AR
ZEBRENTEESREBRERLBEHE
E_—F=ZA=t—BHULHEROHTFETE-
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mEMBHRME

16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to S.383 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) and the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G) is as follows:

(a) Directors

(a)

The aggregate amounts of emoluments payable by the
Company during the years are as follows:

RIEEB QA
—AaNt+=
(FRNB=t=G

16. EEREEBREHFEEMS

GO (ERB+TZF)E
fERrE (REEENEER) RO
BIRBECEEZHFMMT:

=
BEFEARARREN M BELT

2022 2021
—E-—fF —E -4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Fees e
Executive director HITEE 360 180
Non-executive directors FRITES 300 165
Independent non-executive directors B FEHITEE 360 360
1,020 705
Other emoluments Hii <
Basic salaries and other benefits EAF & RHMEF - 315
Equity-settled share-based ARG H AR AERE 2T
payments 1,398 530
Retirement benefits scheme BARE R EE - 16
1,398 861
2,418 1,566

No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
and no emoluments were paid to the directors as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the year (2021: nil).

FALYEEENRXABREEMME - 75
BERMBEENHSIARSIKEMBREE
HIERMBR 2B LBBME (2T~
F|E) e
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,2,51-\ ’g‘ EZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' %I For the year ended 31 March 2022 H#E—FT - —F=A=1+—HIFE
16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 16. EER T ERSHFEEME (&)
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors (continued) (a) E=(#&)
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2021: ENSERTFARB(ZEZ—F "RB)ES
six) directors are as follows: EBZHME0T:
2022 2021
—E_-f —E--F
Basic Equity-
salaries settled Retirement
and other  share-based benefits Total Total
Fees benefits payments scheme emoluments  emoluments
DRESE
£X55¢  NRiAE R

#e  REMEN A S BHEE HehR Hers
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TERL TERn TERL

Executive director BITES

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee RERLE 360 - 699 - 1,059 634
Non-executive directors FUTES

Mr. Wu Qi REEE 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Fong On Shek TEREE 180 - 699 - 879 452
Sub-total N 300 - 699 - 999 572

Independent non-executive directors BUkYTES

Mr. Luk Simon BER2E 120 = = = 120 120
Ms. Liu Xiaoyin ABEat 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Hon Leung BREE 120 - - - 120 120
Sub-total Gt 360 - - = 360 360

Total k| 1,020

1,398 - 2,418 1,566
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16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors (continued)

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for
the executive directors are generally emoluments paid
or receivable in respect of those persons’ other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2021: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining two
(2021: three) individuals were as follows:

(a)

(b)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ —Z - - =H=+—HItFE

16. EERTEBEHEEME (&)

BE= (&)
XNFRTESEZH S RMREVUNER
AZEALTRHEBARRTRENE QA
ZEBER 2 EAMIRK M — R REK
ZME -

IEEaFES
AEELEEmHEEF R (ZF=—
FWMB)ARRAABES HPS 2 HMN Lt
AWM -HEBME(ZEZ—F :=ZF)AAZ
[ UNNE

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FB T FiET

Basic salaries and other benefits EXF S REAMETR 674 1,182
Retirements benefits scheme ROKAEF T2 32 33
706 1,215

The number of the highest paid individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = Z1,000,0005 7T

URTIMEHE 2 RSHEEABRDT

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
2 3

No emoluments were paid to these individuals as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office for the year (2021: Nil).

MAREE WERZEEASNHE AR
BEMBAEESERMBRZ B NEE
BEE (=T =—F &) -
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17. LAFEFABRERZBREARE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2022 2021
—E_-_— B —%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Non-current ERE
Unlisted equity investments outside EBEBBEINZELTRAKRE
Hong Kong 15,486 24,140
Current RE
Listed equity investments in Hong Kong BAZ LTRAKE 148,345 121,192
163,831 145,332

The fair values of these listed securities are determined
based on the quoted market bid prices at the end of each
reporting period. The Group has pledged certain financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss with carrying amount
of approximately HK$31,508,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$14,449,000) to secure margin payables as disclosed in
note 22.

As at 31 March 2022, the net fair value gain in respect of
the Group’s Hong Kong listed investments recognised in
profit or loss amounted to approximately HK$112,000 (2021:
HK$25,980,000), and a net loss of approximately HK$455,000
(2021: HK$5,944,000) was recognised upon disposal of the
listed equity investments for the year.

The market value of the Group’s listed equity investments
at the date of approval of these financial statements was
approximately HK$153,664,000.

ZELTTMEHFZ2ATFENERSERSEHARZH
FMBEAEET - BOM T2 B E A&
BN T -_—_F=-A=+—HzZEEEHY
31,508,000/ 7T ( ==& = — £ : 14,449,0007% 7T )
ZETURAFESABREZMBEEERT
ERENRES 2R -

RZEZZF=ZA=1+—H AEEREZER
ZEBLEWREZ AT ERZEFEL A112,000
BT (T = —4%:25980,00087T) RRER
& B R AR & 1% T R B 18 )F 88 £9455,000%8
gL (ZZF = —% 15,944,000/ 70 ) °

R EZEMBRRZ AN AEEZ EHRA
& 2 M{E#)7153,664,000/8 7T °
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Details of principal unlisted equity securities held by the

Group which are also included in the list of the 10 largest
investments of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and 2021, as
disclosed in note 19, are as follows:

Place/country of Percentage of
Name of investee incorporation/ effective
companies establishment Number of share held interest held
AL/
EREDNTIER RuY/ B fiERHER it U 3p
2022 2021 2022 2021
ZE-CF "E--F CBIZE "Ik
Peak Zone Group Limited ~ British Virgin Islands 2,500 2,500 25% 25%
(note a)
Peak Zone Group Limited ~ XER%ES
(Hiita)
Prominent Alliance Limited ~ British Virgin Islands 28,000 28,000 28% 28%
(note b)
Prominent Alliance Limited ~ XBR %52
I//WE[’/\
Notes:
(a) Peak Zone Group Limited (“Peak Zone”), a private company with

limited liability, and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of integrated application. As disclosed in note 4,
the Group has not been in a position to exercise any significant
influence over the financial and operating policies of Peak Zone.
Accordingly, investment in Peak Zone has been classified as
financial asset at FVTPL.

Prominent Alliance Limited (“Prominent Alliance”), a private
Company with limited liability, and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in dealing in securities, advising on securities and asset
management. As disclosure in note 4, the Group has not been in
a position to exercise any significant influence over the financial
and operating policies of Prominent Alliance. Accordingly,
investment in Prominent Alliance has been classified as financial
asset at FVTPL.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ —Z - - =H=+—HItFE

17. AR FEFABERRZBARE (&)

ZNS
ENiS
A&

BFEFZEEIEEMBRAEFES (M ARE
—E-—ER-FE-_—F=A=+—HZ10
KIEE (19T ) ) 2B T :

Net assets
attributable to
At cost Fair value adjustment At fair value the investments
RHA AVERE ROTE REBLEERE
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
“§--f -F--% Z¥--F -F--F Z®--E _F--% ZB--E -FT--%
HK$000  HK§'000  HK$000  HK§'000  HK$000  HK§'000  HK$'000
T Tz T Tz TExL Tz TiEn
75,000 75,000 (68,500)  (62,275) 6,500 12,725 4970 4,361
20,000 20,000 (11,866) (9,983) 8,134 10,017 8,409 12,639
Hiat -
(a) Peak Zone Group Limited ([Peak Zone | * —X
AABREAAFT)REMBAATER FRHE
ERERER MM T4 HE NEEW &Y
Peak Zone 2 I RS EBRITREMERLE -
E It A Peak Zone 2 HEBE N EAURNFER
ANERRZHMBEE-
(b) Prominent Alliance Limited ([Prominent

Alliance ] - —RXFLABREE AR REKBE A A
FERZBHERG BEFREERREHEE
B o BN FEART B FR - AN & B I & ¥ Prominent
Alliance B BT 18 48 & BURTT{EE R ER T E -
Iit * A Prominent Alliance 2R E BN EAUATF
Bt ABRRZHMBEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

5

Details of principal listed equity securities held by the Group

as at 31 March 2022, which are also included in the list of the

10 largest investments of the Group as at 31 March 2022, as

disclosed in note 19, are as follow:

Place/country Number of Percentage of

Name of investee company of incorporation  share held
ERALLE/

ERENAER S fERG#A

'000

T

WLS Holdings Limited (nofe ¢) Bermuda 509,500
ERZRERAF (Mitc) BRE

China e-Wallet Payment Bermuda 126,960
Group Limited (note d) L3

PEERXNEEERAR (HiEd)

Power Financial Group Limited (nofe e) Bermuda 120,010
BREBEEERAR (Hite) BRE

Youth Champ Financial Group Limited (nofe /)~ Bermuda 11,500
BRIeREBERERRR (H2f) BRE

Wealth Glory Holdings Limited (nofe g) Cayman Islands 34,500
EEERERRA (Witg) ReEs

Milan Station Holdings Limited (note h) Cayman Islands 32,046

KRRERERAR (Hith) RERS

interest held

freEE
BAtt

3.55%

4.21%

4.31%

4.85%

4.80%

4.50%

TE -

FZA=1t—HILFE

17. AR FEFABERRZBARE (&)

RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H AKEFHENEEB

EHRAE S

(FIIAREBHR -_E-—F=H

T+ —HZ10EZAKRE (WM FE19FTHEE) ) 5
ICEUNNE

Cost

RA
HK$'000
TAL

77,406

37,276

38,437

7,820

2,765

9,160

Accumulated
unrealised
holding

gain (loss)
arising on
revaluation
EfiREERZ
EEES §
BREH
(E#8)
HK$'000
TiEn

(52,440)

(29,024)

(21,156)

3,680

4,446

(2,687)

Market Value

[
HK$'000
TAL

24,966

8,252

17,281

11,500

7,211

6,473

Net assets/
(liabilities)

attributable
to the

investment

¥
313-1-74
(BE)FE
HK$'000
TET
18,489

17,867

68,148

(156)

3,315

6,024

Dividend
received/
receivable
during
the year

EREg/
FEUR S
HK$'000

T
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

A brief description of the business and financial information of the
listed investee companies, based on their latest published annual
report are as follows:

(c)

(d)

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS”) is incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability and its shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (Stock code: 8021). WLS is principally
engaged in the Provision of scaffolding, fitting out and other
auxiliary services for construction and buildings work, money
lending business, securities investment business and assets
management business. For the year ended 30 April 2021,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of WLS
was HK$16,903,000 with basic and diluted loss per share of
HK$0.118 cents. As at 30 April 2021, its audited consolidated net
assets attributable to owners was HK$521,353,000.

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited (“China e-Wallet”) was
incorporated in Bermuda and the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 802).
China e-Wallet is principally engaged in the provision of internet
and mobile application, developing interactive virtual reality
technologies, and distribution of computer-related and mobile-
related electronic products and accessories. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2021, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of China e-Wallet was HK$32,370,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK1.11 cents. As
at 31 December 2021, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners was HK$424,688,000.

Power Financial Group Limited (“Power Financial”) incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on Stock Exchange (Stock code: 397).
Power Financial is principally engaged in financial services,
asset management and investment and money lending. For the
year ended 31 December 2021, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of Power Financial was HK$153,759,000
with basic and diluted earnings per share of HK$5.52 cents.
As at 31 December 2021, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners was HK$1,580,652,000.

Youth Champ Financial Group Limited (“Youth Champ”)
incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability and its shares
are listed on Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1160). Youth Champ
is principally engaged in investments in listed and unlisted
enterprises. For the year ended 31 March 2021, the audited loss
attributable to owners was HK$8,379,000 with basic and diluted
loss per share of HK$0.05. As at 31 March 2021, its audited net
Liabilities attributable to owners was HK$3,223,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ —Z - - =H=+—HItFE

17. AR FEFABERRZBARE (&)

Bet

REEHERE TR

ASOHTNEZFR ZERF

ZEBRMBERBENT

(c)

SERZERERAR (DERZER]) RASESEM
A THERERYRERETFTEZER AR
HARD B BT GEM £ (IR {5155 - 8021) < JE
BIEREFENEARERBETRRERMERE -
BEEREMEHPRE NEEE FFHREE
BREEEBEEK - BE-_ZT-_—FMWA=1H
IHFEE ERERBEEABGCKERGABER
16,903,000/ 7t * & AR E AN R #EE E 18 £0.1187%
M-R—ZB-—FNWA=+H EEFAELESE
BiR A B E F1E5521,353,0008 7T

FREAYNEEARAR([FEER])RER
EEMASL - DR RATER LT (BRBARS:
802) HFEEMNIENERBTHAREEHER
B HARXEAEREERMARSHEERRE
RHHEETESARGF - HE-_ZE-_—F+=
BA=+—RLUBEE TEECHEB ABREL
EZGEAEIE A32,370,0008 7T SRER N E
BEAMEBEN-R-_E-_—F+-_A=+—8"
HEA ANEEREZRE EEFE72424,688,000
opIve

ERLBRERBRAB([ERESR])REFRE
AT BEREER DR ERHDRE AT
FEH(BRHARSE:397) EHESHRESHESH
R BEEERREUNERE- HE-_T=—
F+ZA=Z1+—HLEFE HBESBRZHEBARE
H & EZ A B8 5153,759,0008 0 FIRE
ARBEBEEAEBEW-R_FE=-—F+=A
=t+—H EREEABEEBERGAEEFER
1,580,652,0005% T °

BEleRMEEIZERERAR (B ARERE
HMRMZARAR - ERGRE A L™ (KD
K55 :1160) - BEIFERE LM RFELMRER
B-BE-_TE-_—F=-A=1+—BIFE HEA
FE(R S 28 1% E5 18 58,379,00058 7T © & IR E AN K
EEB RGBT -R_E-_—F=A=+—81"
HEEB AEECEZ B EFE /3,223,000 7T
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17. AR FEFABZEZRARE (&)

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(g) Wealth Glory Holdings Limited (“Wealth Glory”) incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 8269). Wealth
Glory is principally engaged in the trading of natural resources
and commodities; development and promotion of brands, design,
manufacture and sale of trendy fashion merchandises and
other customer products; investment in securities; and money
lending businesses. For the year ended 31 March 2021, the
audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of Wealth Glory
was HK$66,695,000 with basic and diluted loss per share of
HK$15.48 cents. As at 31 March 2021, its audited consolidated
net assets attributable to owners was HK$69,096,000.

(h) Milan Station Holdings Limited (“Milan”) incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 1150).
Milan is principally engaged in retailing of handbags, fashion
accessories, embellishments and spa and wellness products.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the audited consolidated
profit attributable to owners of Milan was HK$20,530,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK$2.88 cents. As
at 31 December 2021, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners was HK$133,826,000.

(9

Kzt (&)

EEERERAR (B8] ARRASHSEMAK
M 2BRAF HRRG R FTGEM £ (BR1H
5% 8269) - EEFENERAERLARES
FEREERE - R RS RHER AR R H
fMEE R BHERE  RREEK - BE-_T=—
FZA=+-RLFE BBZEEABLESE
% 4R & 518 /566,695,000 0 - AR E A & #E
EiER15488Il-R-_F-_—F=A=+—8"
H#EA NELE TR A S EFE /A69,096,000
BT e

R IZERAR AR (K] AR A ESESEM
RIZBRRAR MERNREBHERSHAE
AR EM (BHRYE 1150) KB X BHREF
KW KR RKERRBERSE &
EZE—F+ZA=+—RALFE XEHEE
AR B AR A % 7 520,530,000 7T B /%
EARBEEEA288BIl - R_TE-—F+=
A=+—R HEBBABERKERGAEETFE
£133,826,000/8 7T °

18. DEBT INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT 18. REBERATFEZBBRE
AMORTISED COST

2022 2021
—E- T —%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
Unlisted debts securities (note) FELEMEBES (M) 27,000 27,000
Interest receivables FE U F B 2,184 2,184
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (7,232) (3,820)
21,952 25,364

Analysed as: DT
Current bk 12,177 =
Non-current IERE 9,775 25,364

21,952 25,364
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18. DEBT INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT 18. HMBERAFECBEBRE (&)

AMORTISED COST (continued)
Note:

The unlisted debts securities represented unlisted bonds with principal
amount of HK$15,000,000 and HK$12,000,000 issued by Hao Wen
Holdings Limited (“Hao Wen”) and China 33 Media Group Limited
(“China 33 Media”) respectively, both of the companies listed in Hong
Kong. Unlisted bonds issued by Hao Wen are unsecured, carried
interest at 11% per annum and matured in 3 years. Hao Wen is
principally engaged in the money lending, processing and trading of
electronic parts, provision of beauty treatment Services and sale of
burial plots and related services and cemetery maintenance service.
Unlisted bonds issued by China 33 Media are unsecured, carried
interest at 12% per annum and matured in 3 years. China 33 Media
principally engaged in the provision of outdoor and digital advertising
services, film and entertainment investment, prepaid card business
and provision of printed media advertising services.

The movements in the loss allowance for credit losses of debt
investments measured at amortised cost are as follows:

Hiat:

FELMEBHEHFESHHEB LT AR SIERARA
A RFBE==FEEEFRAR ([FH==
B ) #1TH A 2 58 A15,000,000/% 7T K. 12,000,000/%5
TLZIEEMEF - XETHIELMESAEER .
FREMERIFRER - EXFTERERE ETZY
BNIRES REXFEERBARBEER LA
R R E G ERE P = —EHAETNIELTE
HAHERR FHNERR2ERIFRER - FE=_=-FEKE
EREZRUEPIHRBTESRYE B RRLERE &
HREBRIBEFEEBESRS -

R B Y BB 2 EE R BB
BRBMT

2022 2021

—E__ g%

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At the beginning of the reporting period RS H ) 3,820 3,070
Impairment losses, net L BT 1B E B 3,412 750
At the end of the reporting period RIREH R 7,232 3,820

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

The above investment in the bonds issued by Hao Wen
and China 33 Media are included in the list of 10 largest
investments of the Group as at 31 March 2022, as disclosed
in note 19.

BB RS S B E 6 o

B OB E - £ R AR X R A =
BT 2 EFHAREAR "~ =7
St-BZtARARE
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19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS
HELD BY THE GROUP
Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12
of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all
investments with a value greater than 5 per cent of the

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &2 —ZE - =HA=+—HItFE

19. X’ KB ETEREZHE

BEETRNE21I1N2EZ2BTE AEERER =
T _FR-_FE-_—F=-ZA=F+—HEESRAK
EEEERBES % ZBHREER R&ED10EK
AKREEBWT

Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest investments as

at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

As at 31 March 2022

As at investee companies

HRELH

Equity investments:

WLS Holdings Limited (note 17(c))

Power Financial Group Limited (note 17(e))

Youth Champ Financial Group Holdings
Limited (note 17(f))

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited
(note 17(d))

Prominent Alliance Limited (note 17(b))

Wealth Glory Holdings Limited (note 17(f))

Peak Zone Group Limited (note 17(a))

Milan Station Holdings Limited (note 17(h))

Debt investments:
Hao Wen Holdings Limited (note 18)
China 33 Media Group Limited (note 18)

RAERE:

EREZERER AR (MiF17(c))
EReREERRIR (Hit17e))
BEISREEZRBERRR (He17(1)

FEEENNEBERAR (Mit17()

Prominent Alliance Limited (#7217(b))
EERRBERAR (HE17(0))

Peak Zone Group Limited (#7:£17(a))
KRB R AR DR (HaF17(m))

BHRE:
MEXERER AT (fi18)

R== F=A=t+—8
Dividend/
Interest
Cost Fair value received
2 IE
B AR DFE BRE/FE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET FHET
77,406 24,966 -
38,437 17,281 -
7,820 11,500 -
37,276 8,252 -
20,000 8,134 -
2,765 7,211 -
75,000 6,500 -
9,160 6,473 -
15,000 12,177 1,650
12,000 9,775 1,440

RE-=EREEARAG (H218)
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19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS

20.

HELD BY THE GROUP (continued)

As at 31 March 2021

2021/22 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ —Z - - =H=+—HItFE

R-B--5=ZA=+—8H

£

19. A KBFRHFETEREZHE (&)

Dividend/
Interest
As at investee companies Cost Fair value received
2 W
BIREAR AR A DFE BE/FE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTET FERT FET
Equity investments: BRERE:

WLS Holdings Limited (note 17(c)) ERERER AR (Hi217(c)) 77,422 18,841 =

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited FREOINEBERRR (H:17(d)

(note 17(d)) 37,276 13,077 -
Peak Zone Group Limited (note 17(a)) Peak Zone Group Limited (#/:#17(a)) 75,000 12,725 =
Power Financial Group Limited (note 17(e)) EEcREBERAR (Hit17(e)) 38,437 10,321 =
Prominent Alliance Limited (note 17(b)) Prominent Alliance Limited (#7:£17(b)) 20,000 10,017 =
Wan Cheng Metal Packaging Company ENEBREBRAT

Limited 15,023 9,325 -
AMCO United Holdings Limited ERERBRRA 48,292 8,363 -
Milan Station Holdings Limited (note 717(h)) REWIERBR AR (AaE17(h)) 6,957 8,332 =
Debt investments: BERE:

Hao Wen Holdings Limited (note 18) EERABR AR (A1518) 15,000 14,560 1,650

China 33 Media Group Limited (note 18) FR==FEEEERRE (H:18) 12,000 11,688 =
OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 20. HthEW R IR - BAREREE

DEPOSITS

2022 2021

—E- 8 —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET TET

Other receivables H b fE U FRIE 29,027 29,730

Deposits paid [RENE &0 27 22

Financial assets MBEE 29,054 29,752

Prepayments TEfT RIA 32 19

29,086 29,771
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20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 20. HMEWRIE BEARERES (F)
DEPOSITS (continued)
The Group recognised loss allowance for other receivables as LA 72 75 52 [ 3t L fth B W SR IE e aR 2 IS TE 4
follows:

2022 2021
—E-—fF —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Other receivables H b IE N FR A 41,745 54,560
Loss allowance EERE (12,718) (24,830)
Net impairment losses on other receivables = fib g Y 7K I8 7 5l {8 B 18 )% 28 29,027 29,730
The movements in the loss allowance for ECL of other HmEWRB 2 BREEBEBZEEREBEEZH N
receivables are as follows: N
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHET

At the beginning of the reporting period R HA ) 24,830 26,862
Impairment losses, net REEBEFE (12,112) (2,032)
At the end of the reporting period RS R 12,718 24,830

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6. AR A N I
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20.

21.

22.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS (continued)

The above impairment losses have been separately disclosed
as “impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net
of reversal” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

20.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ —Z - - =H=+—HItFE

HBWHE ANRERERSE (&)

LBEBEERGRERREBRER TR
FEEBERATHRESE (KMNERED)] -

At the end of the reporting period, the receivable of R B R - FE R IE ) /829,027,000 7T (=
approximately HK$29,027,000 (2021: HK$29,730,000 T - —14:29,730,0008C) IEEEBRBAFE
represents the consideration receivable arising from the HEMBARIMIEEF EMRAIEEEELEZEK
disposal of the unlisted equity investments through disposal RE-ZERBRAEER FNEERER—FR
of subsidiaries in prior years. The amounts are unsecured, BiE-
carried interest at 5% and repayable within one year.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1. RERAEEEY
2022 2021
—E-= —EE-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash and bank balances Re RRITET 4,515 1,195
Deposits at other financial institutions R H Ath 5 B RS 2 K 6,334 1,594
10,849 2,789
During the reporting period, no cash and cash equivalents RmEEHE - SHERE RS EYAEHER
were denominated in a currency other than the functional ERCEEBUIINCEEER-
currency of the relevant group entity.
The effective interest rate of the deposits ranges from 0.01% GRZEBFNENT00MIEROSE (T =—
to 0.5% (2021: 0.01% to 0.5%) per annum and all of them F:001EZE05F) FIBETFARIBRERKY
have a maturity within three months from initial inception. R=ERARNEH-
MARGIN PAYABLES 22. BERREE

Margin payables represents margin loans arising from the
trading of listed investments which are repayable on demand.
No ageing analysis is disclosed in respect of margin payables.
In opinion of the directors, an ageing analysis does not give
additional value in view of the Group’s business nature.

Margin payables bear interest rates ranged from 8% to
15.25% (2021: 8% to 15%) per annum for the year ended
31 March 2022.

ENREZA/EBELTRESIBZAREZENK
FRRESERAREREE IERENRE
ERBERKEONM -EZERA REITHEEHE
EHUEEmME TR mMEMEE-

ERRECNEE-_E-_—F=A=+—BIF
BEZEMERNFEER15.25B (T - —F:8&
ZE15E) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #{=—& ——

23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. B
Number of Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares of shares of shares of
HK$0.05 HK$0.0001 HK$0.001
each each each
SREE SREE ShEE
0.058 72 0.000158 T2 0.0018 T2
EERHA EERYA EERHA
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 HK$'000
T T T THT
Authorised: JEE
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-TFEWA—AH 24,000,000 - - 1,200,000
Capital reduction and sub-division of BRABUR KRR R4 (fri2a)
shares (note a) (24,000,000) 12,000,000,000 - -
Share consolidation (note a) BOAG (Hiza) — (12,000,000,000)  1,200,000,000 =
At 31 March 2021, at 1 April 2021 and R=-ZE=--#=ZF=+-H"
at 31 March 2022 “E-_-FWA-AK
—E-_-f=ZA=+-H - - 1,200,000,000 1,200,000
Issued and fully paid" BEETRHE -
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-TFEWA—AH 2,257,666 - - 112,883
Capital reduction and sub-division of BRABIR KRR (ffi2a)
shares (note a) (2,257,666) 2,257,666 - (112,657)
Share consolidation (note a) BRip &bt (Hita) - (2,257,666) 225,767 =
Issue of shares under placement (note b)  1RIEE & #1TIG (#iZb) - - 45150 45
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZE-_-f£=A=+-HRK
“E2--f¥NA-A - - 270,917 271
Issue of shares under placement (note ¢) 1R {EE S #1TH (#izc) - - 54,180 54
At 31 March 2022 R-E-_-#=H=+-H - - 325,097 325
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23. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(a)

On 16 March 2020, the Company proposed to effect the capital
reduction of issued shares and sub-division of unissued shares
which has become effective on 30 July 2020. The capital
reduction of issued shares and sub-division of unissued shares
involved the following:

(i) the par value of each issued share of HK$0.05 (each
a “Share”) in the capital of the Company be reduced to
HK$0.0001 (each a “New Share”) by cancelling paid-up
capital to the extent of HK$0.0499 on each issued Share
(the “Capital Reduction”) and any liability of the holders of
such shares to make any further contribution to the capital
of the Company on each such share shall be treated as
satisfied and that the amount of issued capital thereby
cancelled be made available for issue of new shares of the
Company;

(i) immediately following the cancellation of paid-up capital
in (a) above, each authorized but unissued Share in the
capital of the Company be sub-divided into 500 New
Shares of HK$0.0001 each (“Sub-division”);

(iii) immediately following the Sub-division, every ten (10)
issued and unissued New Shares of HK$0.0001 each in
the share capital of the Company be consolidated into one
(1) share of HK$0.001 each (each a “Consolidated Share”)
(the “Share Consolidation”) so that the authorised share
capital of the Company shall be HK$1,200,000,000 divided
into 1,200,000,000,000 Consolidated Shares of HK$0.001
each, and such Consolidated Share(s) shall rank pari
passu in all respects with each other and have the rights
and privileges and be subject to the restrictions in respect
of ordinary shares contained in the articles of association
of the Company;

(iv) the credit arising from the Capital Reduction be transferred
to a distributable reserve account of the Company which
may be utilised by the Directors in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company and all applicable
laws, including, without limitation, eliminating or setting off
the accumulated losses of the Company from time to time.

On 15 September 2020, the Company entered into the placing
agreement to issue and allot a maximum of 45,150,000 placing
shares of HK$0.001 each in the Company with Astrum Capital
Management Limited at a price of HK$0.15. The net proceeds
from the subscription would be used for the general working
capital of the Group and for future investments pursuant to
the investment objectives of the Company. These new placing
shares rank pari passu in all respect with existing shares. This
transaction has been completed on 25 September 2020.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ —Z - - =H=+—HItFE

23. %A (&)

(a)

R-B-BE=AtAE AATRRMADE
RG22 BRARFARETRG BN -F=F
FLA=+EERCHAE RTRE ZBARR
ERETRO Y RTFAIEE

(i) BBTHERE BITRGOHTRZA0.04997%8
TR AR BARARANFERE BITRG
ZHEE0.05B I (FB8A—RIKRMI)EIR
£0.0001BT (FEA—RIFRG]) (T
AR - B D F A A SRR RS
MARBRAELEME - FHENETR
EEBIT BRSO BITRAS T
FRYESIT AR RIFRG

(i) BELX(a)EMEMBRATHE Ko
ARG AR AR BROE TE B R BT RR 19 4 48
735000% & X H E0.000178 7T &9 AR5 ([
Ml

(i) BEEFRMAE RNABREAPE+(10)RER
E{H0.00018 T2 BT RAFETHRMGE
HAE—()RBRSREE.ETLZRM (F
BA—RI&HERG]) (TRHEH]) - A
LA R B ZEE KA A1,200,000,0005% 7T
(% #1,200,000,000,0004% & A% [ {£0.001
BrRZzEHRG) MZEE RGO LK
REFEZEREEZ WEEARAZ
BHBERAAE s BELBR ZER R
BUARZE R 2RI ATHRER

(iv) BARHUBEL 2 ERSEBEEAQEZAH
DkFEER YAAEFRRAQRZ AL
SRMARAABEREMNSDE BEETR
MU HREBE AR BN Z RETHIE-

RZZE-ZZFNA+AEB AR EMEHFRE
REBBR ARG RS B L0158 T2 B
& 347 R Bt % AN A B £x %45,150,0000% & /%0.001
BT ZEERD - REEFIEZ BB FHEG A
EAEEZ —BREEES URBREBEAARZE
EEERAERARBRE - REFTRERONAE S
HRBEERNEERSEHA - TEXFER -
—EFEARA-+HRBREK-

k¢ |
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23.

24,

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(c) On 19 July 2021, the Company entered into the placing
agreement to issued and allot a maximum of 54,180,000 placing
shares of HK$0.001 each in the Company with Astrum Capital
Management Limited at a price of HK$0.30. The net proceeds
from the subscription would be used for the general working
capital of the Group and for future investments pursuant to the
investment objectives of the Company. The placing of shares
has been completed on 10 August 2021.

All issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with each
other.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 29 August
2013 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees. Under the Scheme, the
Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to
eligible employees, including directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant share
options to outside third parties for settlement in respect of
goods or services provided to the Company.

As at 31 March 2022, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 49,300,000 (2021: 22,500,000),
representing approximately 15.16% (2021: 8.31%) of the
shares of the Company in issue at that date. The total number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted under
the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 20% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year
is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders.

23.

24,

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &2 —ZE - =HA=+—HItFE

R (&)

(c) RZEZ—FtA+NB XAREMTKAE
REBBERAAG RS HE L0.30B T 2B
%2517 R AL 3 N A B £x %54,180,000 4% & f%0.001
BrIZREERD REFHEZMERBFEKA
EAEEZ —BREEES URBEBEAARZE
BEEERERARRE RERNER T =_—F
NA+ A=K -

FECRITROBERMETEESR RFHA -

BREE

AREBEERESS ([ZFAEDDRER-F
—ZFNAZTAEBBZRERTUERS =
ZEMDTREETRAERERIREAE -RIEZ
B ARFEEEURAERER (BEAR
FAREMBARIER)RTARBARRRN Z
B LN RRRAAERIIRE =T R L
B AERRTARRNEYM IR -

RZEZZF=ZA=+—H Z:T8ETHER
RSB TE M AITERBBREN S RARMDEE
#349,300,000/% (==& = —4 :22,500,000/% ) -
HERARREBEZHTRMN Z415.16% (=
T —F:831%) o &t EITE T Al 2 B AR 4
ks BROBEERERARRRES LI
Bl RAEMBEEATEBBEARAESEITRMNZ
20% - RNAEM—FERTRAE FERMERAL
ZEREMSRZEBTRETFEIROEEE
REARND R RE BRI ER MRS TG
RBARARDEITRGBZ1% °
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 24, BREE (&)

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may
be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
option to the second anniversary of the date of grant. The
exercise price is determined by the Board of Directors, and
will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

Details of options granted to directors and employees on
7 August 2020 are as follows:
Date of grant 7 August 2020
Vesting period Immediate
Exercise period 3 years from the date of grant
Exercise price HK$0.316
Details of options granted to directors and employees on
11 August 2021 are as follows:
Date of grant 11 August 2021
Vesting period Immediate
Exercise period 3 years from the date of grant
Exercise price HK$0.421
The following table discloses movement of the Company’s

share option granted and lapsed:

BREANKRHBBEZE2IAAR XN ERE
1B TT T LA - BB B i AT 09X BB Ak i B 1
EERHARE _EBF L AREERITE 1T
EHEFERET EIASERTIZESE (i)
BORFELE AR KWHE: (i) BORERRLA
MR A EE %A 2 FHWRmE: i) Rpzm|
o

W-T-TE/\A+AETEERERZBRE
HEMT

s gael=p- —ZEZFEFNALEH
5B H B B
711 A BERHBHBE=F
TiEE 0.31678 7T

RIBZ—FN A+ ARTFEEREEZER
REFBET:

HH B —E-—HNA+—H
FEH BNBF
FIEHER AEREASRE=F
TEE 0.42178 7T

TREBEARRDEO R KRB ZBREED:

2022 2021
—E- —E-—4F
Number of Number of
share options share options
BREHE EREE R
Outstanding at the beginning of R EBYIERITE

the reporting period 22,500 -
Lapsed during the year FAB KR - -
Granted during the year FRNEED 26,800 22,500

Outstanding and exercisable R E BRI ARITER KR A] TT1E
at the end of the reporting period 49,300 22,500
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24,

25.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

No share option was exercised during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021. Accordingly, no weighted average
share price at the date of exercise presented.

The fair value of share options granted on 7 August 2020 and
11 August 2021 was calculated using Binominal Option Pricing
Model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

7 August 2020 11 August 2021

Fair value HK$0.1178-0.1161 HK$0.1889-0.2151
Share price HK$0.2800 HK$0.4200
Exercise price HK$0.3160 HK$0.4210
Expected volatility 81% 93%
Expected life 3 years 3 years
Risk-free rate 0.092% 0.273%
Expected dividend yield Nil Nil

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 3
years at the grant date. The expected life used in the model
has been adjusted, based on the directors’ best estimate,
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioral considerations.

The Group recognised a total expense of HK$5,233,000
(2021: HK$2,620,000) for the year ended 31 March 2022 in
relation to share options granted by the Company.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the
net assets included in the consolidated statement of
financial position of approximately HK$209,715,000 (2021:
HK$195,506,000) by the number of shares in issue as at
31 March 2022, being 325,096,600 (2021: 270,916,600).

24,

25.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &=L - —F = A=+—HIEFE

BRESE ()
RBE-—F-_—4R-F-—F=A=+—AL
[ 190 45 A A B RO AT 0 o bt - 0 4 2 5
TR Z T RE -

R-Z-_ZFNALAR-_ZT-_—F\HA+—H

BHZEREAFADNER-_EBAPECEER
AE o RERFERA B AZSEBAT
—E-EF —E-—%F
NAtH NA+—H

DA 0.1178-0.1161% 7 0.1889-0.2151% 7T
BB 0.2800/& 7T 0.4200/% 7T
1B 0.316075 T 0.421078 7T
KR 81% 93%
TEHIF =% =

B ¥l = 0.092% 0.273%
EHREE " &

REL BN BHREDEBERARRARNEE
—FREELREEE ZEAMARRAFH
EREFZHEMRHELBERE ARRTATEE
M TERGIRTRAEESFEE -

AEERBE-_EZ-__E=A=+—HILEEH
AN R R 2 B IR R RE R B S 48 585,233,000
7T (—ZF = —4%:2,620,000/ 7T ) °

BREEFE
BREEFEDNEBEAVBERARANMEZ
B EFEH209,715,00008 L (Z T = —F:
195,506,000 C) B AU —E - —F = =+—
BB Z17%D & B 325,096,6000% ( —ZF — — 4 :
270,916,6000% ) & 15 i} °
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the
Group had entered into the following transactions with the

For the year ended

31 March 2022 HEZ - - —F=A=+—HItFE

26. BEALTRS
HE-_ T - —_FR-_F-_—F=ZA=+—HLHF
F%f'$$E§E¢EE&§%‘£EETJM—F“%’i

investment manager of the Group which, in the opinion of the ERB UERFIIRAEEBEFEBRERIZ
directors, were carried out on normal commercial terms and in Eﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬂxﬂkﬁ
the ordinary course of the Group’s business:
2022 2021
S E e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT AT
Investment manager’s fee: RERKEER:
China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited R E}X KFEH (F5) AR QA - 640
Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited 8 X:&% (&8 ) AR A 7 720 226
Total st 720 866
Note: g
The Company had terminated the investment management agreement ARRBERZZZZEF+—A=+HRLEEFEXKE
with China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited (the “China Everbright H (BB)ARAAZHEEEHH ([FEXABHE]) -
Agreement”) effective on 30 November 2020 and entered into a WRZZZZEF+ANBERERBHF(BBE)AERA

new investment management agreement with Evergrande Securities
(Hong Kong) Limited (the “New Investment Manager”) effective on
8 December 2020.

The New Investment Manager is entitled to a monthly management fee
of HK$60,000 and payable monthly in advance. Prior to the termination
of the China Everbright Agreement, the maximum aggregate fee to be
payable by the Group shall not exceed HK$960,000 per annum.

Both investment managers shall be deemed as a connected person
of the Company pursuant to Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules upon the
agreement becoming effective. The transactions are considered a de
minimis transactions under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company considered
that the above investment management agreements are in the best
interests of the Company and were entered into on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary course of business of the Company and that
investment management fee are calculated in accordance with
the above agreements and are fair and reasonable so far as the
shareholders of the Company are concerned.
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts
paid to the directors of the Company and certain of the highest paid
employees are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A ([FRELBILHBREETRHE -

BB ARKIE A EIE 60,0008 T
RAISN - RBEXABHERRLEAN AEEET
2B R &S BB TEBiR60,0007% T

ll%
%
mm
o

Rz ERE REKLIEDBRE EHARAE21.13
BRRSARBMEAL -RE LR AE14A.760F
ZERGRERTAREHRPKFINRS -

AARBUNTEESRALAREATEBHHEAFTER
AEIREFS YR AR B FESBEPREEEE

BRETY MEEERERNRE LR BHEAE YR
REABRRMEBAFARE-

TEERABZME BRENTARRAEERE TS
BERFEEZFERBERGAMIERKRM 6 -
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 27. RAKRBERIE

The Group has participated in a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all eligible
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustee. Under the scheme, each of the Group (the
employer) and its employees makes monthly contributions
to the Scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance.
The contributions from each of the employer and employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per
month since 1 June 2015 and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The total contributions charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to HK$32,000 (2021:
HK$49,000), representing contributions payable to the
Scheme by the Group in respect of the year ended 31 March
2022.

REERE CaplMELE ST EIEH) AMEE
BEEREESMERHEIKASMELE S S
([5H&]) B EEMEARB  EESRIT AL
TREFDABEZES -BREE - A%H (BX)
HEEBAHCEREEBRA(EER GasltR
BT BRI ) 25% HEtBIEL ko B £ 6
BREBAZHRE-_ZT—RAFSA—HBERERZMN
1,5008 L AR ZH oM RBARER RS
IR U A SR AT FR R F00R 7 12 S R R -

BE-_Z-_—F-A=-1+—BHLFEREEER
K H fth 2 Weas R B 2 48 £ 5%32,000%8 7T (=
T —F:49,0008 L) RRAKEERBE_Z
= A=t BIEFEEMFT AT Z MK
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28. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 28.
OF THE COMPANY
Details of principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2022 and 2021
are as follows:

9%

RAREEMBARZFHE

R —FN_E-_—F=ZA=+—HZ2IE
MEARFEHINMOT :
Particulars of Proportion of ownership

Place of issued share interest and voting rights

Name of subsidiary incorporation capital held by the Group Principal activities
rEERBERZ
B D R & B o AR R 3 4t B BRITRAFE FrBERERRRELL A TEER
2022 2021
—E-C -
Directly hold:
HEERE:
Garron Consultancy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Trading of securities
HK$1
RREMARAT BB LEBIET 100% 100% #HEE
New Express Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Trading of securities
HK$1 & investment
holding
MBRERB AT BB TR 100% 100% #EHEELIKREEK
Jetland Global Investments Ltd British Virgin Ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment
Islands US$1 each holding
REBRUES ikl 100% 100% HEZER
BREE1ET
Baiye Holdings Limited British Virgin Ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
Islands US$1 each
RERLHS TER 100% 100% & ZERK
BREBEIET

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding

at end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

ERAMARBAMNBARNEERREATZER
FREEEIBRASEEEFEZIERN &
ERR HIEMMBARFEEBR TR

NSRS FEREAER BENBARES
EARREEZEEES -
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29. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 29. A Rz BEEHR

2022 2021
eS8 —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIKE 1 1
1 1
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables, prepayments Ha eI AN RERES
and deposits 10,389 18,646
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U5 B B 1 R 3R IE 195,628 173,330
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 1,394 63
207,411 192,039
Current liabilities RBAE
Accruals BB A 3,347 3,280
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERTHI B R R ZkIA 1,924 1,940
5,271 5,220
Net current assets RBEEFEE 202,140 186,819
Net assets EEFE 202,141 186,820
Capital and reserves EAXR#E
Share capital [N 325 271
Reserves (Note) () 201,816 186,549
Total equity B 202,141 186,820

Signed on its behalf by:

CHAN Cheong Yee

RATIHALRERE:

FONG On Shek

RE= FRA
Director Director
2 2
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29. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 29. AARIZMBER (&)
COMPANY (continued)
Note: B it
Movement in reserves during the year FAEEE
Capital Share
Share reduction option Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
[N
B 15 55 (B HURfHE BRERE 23R st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FH&T FET FET
As at 1 April 2020 R-ZE-_ZFMWABE—H 914,480 = = (852,188) 62,292
Profit and total comprehensive income N4 &% 7| &2 2 W A 42 %8
for the year - - - 2,354 2,354
Reduction of share capital BB A% A - 112,657 - - 112,657
Issue of new shares under placing RIFRC S BT RGD 6,626 = = = 6,626
Grant of share options BB = = 2,620 = 2,620
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R-_Z-_—F=A=+—H
E—Z2-—FMA—A 921,106 112,657 2,620 (849,834) 186,549
Loss and total comprehensive income AFEEE R 2K ALAE
for the year - - - (5,906) (5,906)
Issue of new shares under placing RIEBE BTG 15,940 = = = 15,940
Grant of share options B B - - 5,233 = 5,233

As at 31 March 2022 R-ZBE-_—f=HA=+—H 937,046 112,657 7,853 (855,740) 201,816
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+H ﬂE /E\ZI' i‘%jﬁj g For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 =T =_=—F=A=+—HIEFE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLFE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E--f —T-—F —T-FF —hE —NF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FExT FET FExT FET
RESULTS E4
Revenue gy 4,478 4,521 2,930 95 907
(Loss)/profit before tax PR (B1B) /A F (7,018) 3,569 (127,108) (87,251) (1,128,214)
Income tax credit FEHiER - = 732 1,094 86,506
(Loss)/profit attributable to RARHEA A
owners of the Company [Eh (B8 /& (7,018) 3,569 (126,376) (86,157)  (1,041,708)
(Loss)/earnings per share Sk (EE) /&BF
— Basic (HK cents) — AR (W) (2.27) 1.43 (5.60) (3.82) (46.14)
At 31 March
R=ZBA=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E--f -—T-—F —E-TF —NEF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FTEx FExT TET FET FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE 25,261 49,504 50,411 62,035 101,012
Current assets BB E 200,457 153,752 141,580 253,968 319,859
Current liabilities mEaf (16,003) (7,750) (9,345) (6,981) (11,732)
Non-current liabilities FERBAE - - - = =
Total equity R 209,715 195,506 182,646 309,022 409,139
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